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Wednesday, July 25, 2012

--- On commencing at 9:42 a.m.
Preliminary Matters:


MS. HARE:  Good morning.  Please be seated.


The Board has a few preliminary matters.  The first is that we approve the settlement agreement as filed on July 24th, the revised settlement agreement.


Secondly, we have a schedule for submissions, and that would be August 3rd for written argument-in-chief.


MR. SMITH:  Okay.


MS. HARE:  Second would be August 10th for Staff written submissions.


We will then meet on August 14th and 15th, starting with -- if in fact the Board Panel has any questions about the argument-in-chief or Board Staff's written submissions, we will have questions then, and then we will proceed to intervenor submissions.  So we're allowing two days for that, if required.


Then August 30th will be oral reply submissions.


The third matter is just today's schedule, which is that we will need to take the morning break at 10:45 and we will need to break for lunch, because of other Panel commitments, at 12:20 until 1:45.  So depending where we are in the cross-examination, we will adjust accordingly.


Are there any preliminary matters from any other parties?


MR. SMITH:  No, Madam Chair.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Good morning, Madam Chair.


MS. HARE:  Mr. Gruenbauer, we haven't seen you yet.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  I am happy to be back in Toronto again.  Thank you.  Madam Chair, I just had a quick question about the proposed schedule for intervenor submissions on August 14th and 15th.


MS. HARE:  Yes.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Would intervenors be able to submit written argument in advance of that date, but subsequent to the dates for Mr. Smith and Board Staff?


MS. HARE:  Our preference is to have oral submissions, because it allows us the opportunity to ask questions in order to clarify the submissions, but if there are, you know, problems with the scheduling and appearance on the 14th or 15th, then we would accept written submissions on the Monday before, which would be then the 13th.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you very much.


MS. HARE:  With that, I think, Mr. Brett, you are next for cross-examining this panel.

UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 6, RESUMED


Matthew Wood, Previously Sworn


James Gordon Redford, Previously Sworn

Cross-Examination by Mr. Brett:

MR. BRETT:  Yes, that's right, Madam Chair.  Good morning, Panel and Union panel.  My name is Tom Brett.  I act for BOMA, the Building Owners & Managers Association.


I have some initial questions just on the costs of the Parkway West.  I take it from your prefiled evidence that it is a total cost of $215 million, but that that has been updated to some extent.  That has been updated by -- and the update I find in your -- well, the prefiled I find at page 5.  That is the 215.  But the update I find at -- and I will be referring to this a lot.  You discussed it yesterday.  It is J.B-1-7-8.  That's IR response J.B-1-7-8 and it is attachment 7.


You will recall you had a bunch of questions yesterday on this, so I am going to be using this attachment 7 quite a bit.  So in this context, what I note is, if you turn to page 20 on attachment 7, you see a number for -- a number of total cost - it is entitled, "Preliminary Parkway West Capital Costs", and this looks to be a presentation made on April of 2012 - of $224 million.


Is that a pretty fair -- is that the most recent estimate of the total cost?


MR. REDFORD:  The $224 million that is shown in the presentation on April of 2012 also includes $7 million to upgrade the measurement in the existing Parkway station, and was included in that presentation as part of a larger project.


MR. BRETT:  So it really should be 224 minus the seven, then?  Let me ask you, just on that, on the 7 million, is that to upgrade your meters on the TransCanada?  On the compression with TransCanada, you have check meters on that now; right?  Is that changing those from check meters to custody meters; is that what that is about?


MR. WOOD:  The cost is to upgrade our check measurement to custody transfer quality.


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MR. WOOD:  TCPL owns custody of transfer at that site.


MR. BRETT:  Right, right.


MR. WOOD:  But that is what the 7 million is for, yes.


MR. BRETT:  Okay, all right.


I will come back to that briefly later, but, anyway, so apart from that, the $224 million is appropriate.


And there was talk in the -- at page 16, I don't know whether you have to turn it up, but page 16 of that same attachment there was talk of a contingency of 20 percent in the estimate.  The feasibility level cost estimate includes 20 percent contingency excluding land purchase.  That is at page 6.


Now, is that contingency of 20 percent included in the 224?


MR. WOOD:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So it is not listed separately in here on page 20, but it is built into each of these separate components, with the exception of the land purchase?


MR. WOOD:  Correct.


MR. BRETT:  And the land purchase, I gather, hasn't taken place yet, but you have negotiated an extension in your option to 2013; is that right?


MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.  We have a purchase price negotiated, which is why there is no contingency placed on it in the estimate.


MR. BRETT:  Sorry, but I want to make clear I guess my question was:  Have you actually bought the land, yet?


MR. REDFORD:  No.  It is optioned to April 2013.


MR. BRETT:  So you haven't established a price for the land?


MR. REDFORD:  We have established a price.


MR. BRETT:  I see.


MR. REDFORD:  It is included in the option agreement.


MR. BRETT:   Included in the option agreement?


MR. REDFORD:  Correct.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, I think you said yesterday to one of the questioners you hadn't pre-ordered the compressor yet, the 47,000 horsepower compressor?


MR. REDFORD:  No, that's correct.


MR. BRETT:  But you have authorized some vendor engineering on that, have you, at this stage?


MR. REDFORD:  I think we have authorized vendor engineering.


MR. BRETT:  Any sense of how much money is involved, how much has been spent on that to date?


MR. REDFORD:  No, I don't know what our costs are spent to date.  Yesterday I said that our costs expected in 2012 were $6 million --


MR. BRETT:  So that would presumably be --


MR. REDFORD:  -- at this time.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So that would presumably be -- some of that six would be vendor engineering, then?


MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So we're not going to be anywhere near the 36.8 million that was estimated at page 21 of the attachment 7.  That was an earlier prediction, but you are not going to get to 36 in 2012, I take it?


MR. REDFORD:  We don't plan on that.


MR. BRETT:  No.  Now, one of the items -- and I will come back to this, but one of the items on this list is -- this is back on page 20 -- is the Enbridge measurement and Parkway header of $35 million.


This is the expenditure on the equipment to give you your separate third connection with Enbridge, effectively, outside of Parkway.  Is that from Parkway West rather than Parkway?  Is that what the $35 million is there, broadly speaking?


MR. REDFORD:  It would include the measurement, as well as the headers to connect to it.


MR. BRETT:  So that is a small pipeline, effectively, to connect to Enbridge?


MR. REDFORD:  No.  It will be a sizeable pipeline.  It's a --


MR. BRETT:  Sizeable in diameter, but I mean short in length?


MR. REDFORD:  About a kilometre.


MR. BRETT:  About a kilometre, okay.  I think you said that, actually.  All right.

Then you also -- you also mentioned in your evidence, I think in your evidence, in your prefiled evidence, you talked briefly about $55 million of common costs.  I think it is actually in -- it's not in your prefiled.  It is in the other piece of paper that I will be referring to quite a lot this morning.  It is J.B-1-1-2.  That's from the Board Staff, and that is where you give a very comprehensive explanation of the different components of the Parkway West project.


And I am just seeing if I can -- I actually have this later on in my cross-examination, but I was just going to see if I could lay my hands on it.  Yeah, here it is.


Could you could turn up that J.B-1-1-2?  Do you have that?   Page 6 of 7, about the middle of the page.


Yes, here it is.  I am just going to read this quickly:

"Common facilities required to support the loss of critical unit protection and the second connection to Enbridge include the valving and piping at the connection to the Dawn-Parkway system and the pipeline headers to connect the Dawn-Parkway system with Parkway West.  Including lands, the cost of the common facilities is estimated to be approximately $55 million."


So those are facilities that support both the LCU and the additional connection with Enbridge; right?

MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  We will have to worry about how they're allocated, but I take it that would be for another panel?


MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  How to split that cost.


I would like to talk a little bit more about the detail of this loss of critical unit.  I am going to have a number of numbers here that have been, I think, put in evidence in some -- they're all in evidence, but they come from different sources, but let me see if I can summarize this at a pretty high level.


What you have said -- and this is, I think, at pages 1 and 2 of your evidence-in-chief -- that Union has a delivery capacity to Parkway of about 2.5 petaJoules; is that right?  Approximately?


MR. WOOD:  Yes.  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And I will just go through this.  I want to just get a schematic picture of what is happening there.


Now, TCPL on the other hand, there's -- the transfer capability, as I understand it, at Parkway is about two petaJoules a day; correct?


MR. WOOD:  We believe that is the restriction of their takeaway capabilities.


MR. BRETT:  Right.  That is what you think they can -- TCPL can handle; that is your best estimate of that.  I guess you don't know that.  You have never been told, but that is your estimate; right?

MR. WOOD:  That's our estimate, correct.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Then on the other hand, there is a third category.  There is contracted capacity of Parkway of about 1.9 petaJoules; right?

MR. WOOD:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  Just under the takeaway capacity, not unreasonably.


You have said, I think, that the 2.0 that goes through Parkway, goes at a number of different places, obviously.


You mentioned that 0.4, I think you mentioned in your prefiled that 0.4 of that petaJoules, approximately, goes to supply Union northern and eastern franchise?


MR. WOOD:  That's correct


MR. BRETT:  That leaves about 1.6 left, by my reckoning.


My calculation, and I did this from putting different numbers together, but roughly of the 2.0 that goes through Parkway, approximately 0.5 petaJoules finds its way to Enbridge; is that about right?  Would that --


MR. REDFORD:  About 0.5 of the discharge, 0.5 petaJoules of the discharge goes to Enbridge.  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  Right. 0.5 of the two petaJoules discharged goes to Enbridge.


And the balance, presumably, then -- and I mean, we all know, and I will come back to it, that Enbridge does get a lot more gas than that at Parkway, but they don't get it from the discharge of the Enbridge TCPL interface; right?

MR. REDFORD:  Correct.  They would take 1.6 pJs a day from the section side.


MR. BRETT:  Right.  They take 0.8 or can take up to 0.8 from Lisgar; right?

MR. REDFORD:  Correct.


MR. BRETT:  And Lisgar is about, what, two kilometres east of Parkway, approximately?


MR. REDFORD:  Approximately.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So that is sort of the Enbridge picture.  And I want to come back to that, but I thought I would just put it in there now.


Now, going back to the discharge side of Parkway, you've got another -- a bunch of -- another amount of gas there and I -- it's going somewhere else.


I take it it's going to areas outside of Ontario; either Quebec or to the United States; is that fair?


I mean, we talked about the amount that is going to the Union franchise area, north and east.


And I assume the balance that goes through there is going beyond that franchise area into Quebec or into the US through various connections in the northeast.


MR. REDFORD:  I think on any given day it is hard to tell where that goes is going.


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MR. REDFORD:  It could be destined for Quebec, it could be also destined for the US northeast, or stay in Ontario.


MR. BRETT:  All right.  If it stays in Ontario, where is it going, essentially?


I'm talking about physical flows, I guess, now.  Maybe you are talking about something else, but just on the physical side of it, you said 0.4, roughly, would go to Union's own people, Union's own customers.  We say 0.5 is going to Enbridge.  That leaves 1.1 on the discharge side.


You're saying some of that 1.1 could also go to Ontario?  Where would it go in Ontario?


MR. REDFORD:  It could go to the GTA, it could go to the eastern delivery area.


MR. BRETT:  Oh, I see.  It could go to a non-Enbridge part of the GTA?


MR. REDFORD:  Or in an Enbridge area.


MR. BRETT:  We just said, though, that 0.5 is going to Enbridge, 0.5 on the discharge side is going to Enbridge.


MR. REDFORD:  That's what is contracted, but on any given day, what is -- where that gas lands is, you know, once it passes Parkway it is difficult for us to know.


MR. BRETT:  So it is out of your ken at that stage.


So you're not able to basically say, then, really, how much of the gas that goes from the discharge side of Parkway finds its way to the United States?  You don't know how much of that?


MR. REDFORD:  We know what would be contracted to US northeast customers.


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MR. REDFORD:  But, again, on any --


MR. BRETT:  I guess it could all be coming on -- the bulk of that, you know what they have contracted with you, I suppose, and then some of them would have contracted with TransCanada on the long haul; is that fair?


MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  We would assume, yes.


MR. BRETT:  Yes.  Okay.  Could you make an estimate?  Do you know?  Do you happen to know offhand how much northeast gas is contracted with you that would have flown through to -- flown through at Parkway?


MR. REDFORD:  I think that is part of -- I think that's part of Ms. Cameron's evidence.


MR. BRETT:  All right.  I will check that myself, then.  That's fine if it's in the evidence.


MS. TAYLOR:  Mr. Brett, just before you leave that point, I need to make sure I understand and maybe I don't.


So Union is currently contracted on a firm basis to deliver two petaJoules to TransCanada.  So someone has to pay for the tolls for the two petaJoules.


So perhaps another way of getting to the answer that Mr. Brett wants is:  Who is paying the toll on the two petaJoules?  How much is going through rates to in-franchise customers and how much is going through the marketing group for ex-franchise customers?


So perhaps that is another way of answering the question.  Can you break that down for me, please?


MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  And I think that is -- the 0.4 destined for Union's customers would be for Union's in-franchise customers.


The remainder would be for either Enbridge or GMI or people in the US northeast.


So 0.4 would be for Union's in-franchise customers, and the remainder of that would be for -- for others, including Enbridge.


MS. TAYLOR:  Can you provide just an undertaking with that breakdown, please, definitively for us?


MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.


MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  J9.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J9.1:  TO PROVIDE DETAILED BREAKDOWN OF VOLUMES GOING TO EX-FRANCHISE CUSTOMERS.

MR. BRETT:  Thank you.  Then the -- just carrying on, moving on.  Just briefly, you mention in your -- at page 2 of your evidence-in-chief that in addition to an increase in demand at Parkway - you talk about this increase in demand at Parkway - there is also a change in flow patterns.

And you make the point that net -- that the flow is now almost entirely export when it was -- a few years prior there was a fair amount of gas imported at Parkway.

Now, just on the terminology, when you say "imported", you mean physically move from -- physically move from the discharge to the suction side of Parkway, moved through Parkway, and then reverse direction to the export; is that correct?

MR. WOOD:  That's correct, yes.

MR. BRETT:  How do you do that?  Does that just bypass the compressors?

MR. WOOD:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  I take it that is not happening?  When you talk about net flows at Parkway, you mean what?  You mean the exports less the imports?  Is that what is meant by the term --


MR. WOOD:  Yes, physical flow.

MR. BRETT:  Physical flow?

MR. WOOD:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  At the moment, I take it you're saying there are zero imports?

MR. WOOD:  I believe that is what was filed in evidence.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.  I mean, I have all of these references.  I just wanted to get a very high-level view of that.

MR. REDFORD:  In 2006-2007, we actually imported more gas at Parkway than we exported.  There was a distinct reverse in how Parkway was used in about 2009.  I think until that time, there was about, somewhere in the range of 100 Bcf a year was the maximum net discharge at Parkway.

MR. BRETT:  Until 2009?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  I can't remember what year it was.  It was before 2009.

2009 and 2010 we discharged between 300 and 400 Bcf a year, which was a distinct difference in the usage.  And when we look at the --


MR. BRETT:  Sorry, a distinct difference meaning an increase, an increase in exports?

MR. REDFORD:  An increase in exports, correct.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.

MR. REDFORD:  And if you look at schedule 2 of my evidence of tab 9, there is a graph that shows the --


MR. BRETT:  Let me just get that up.  Sorry.

MR. REDFORD:  Sorry.  I will slow down.

MR. BRETT:  This is your picture here?  Yes, okay, I've got it.

MR. REDFORD:  Correct.  What this graph shows is the gray band is the 2006 to 2009 range of Parkway activity of the net flow through Parkway.

And that would be something relatively typical you would see.  The graph starts in November and ends in March.  It would be exports at that point.  That's where -- eastern peaking system.  So we would be exporting out of or discharging out of Parkway to TCPL.

Then in the April through, let's say, September to October, we would be net importing.  So that the gray band falls below the line.  That's fairly typical of traditional use.

MR. BRETT:  All right.

MR. REDFORD:  If you look at -- the blue line and the green line represent winter 2009/2010 and represent winter 2010/'11.  We did not see that traditional dip below the line.  We did not see those -- that traditional summer imports typically would be to fill storage.  Storage was filled from elsewhere.

So what we're seeing is Parkway now discharging on a 365 basis, which in the past was not the case.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  And previous to that, you talked about 2006/2007.  You would have volumes -- you'd have large imported volumes in most months; is that what you're saying?  Is that what that graph is showing?  It's fairly -- I mean...

MR. REDFORD:  Prior to 2009?

MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MR. REDFORD:  Well, I think we had a classic summer/winter split where, in the winter, we discharged into the TCPL system.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. REDFORD:  In the summer, we received gas at Parkway, which --


MR. BRETT:  You moved that physically to Dawn, then?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes, which could fill storage.

MR. BRETT:  Yes, okay.  All right.  Well, let me move on from that.  I just wanted to get that straight.

Now, going back to the issue of the loss of unit protection, and just -- let me just hone in a little bit on some of this.

I think we discussed earlier the fact that the Parkway west project includes new interconnection with Enbridge, this one-kilometre pipeline and header and measurement.

And I call that a third connection with Enbridge, because there is already two connections; right?  There is a connection on the input side of Parkway and there is a connection at Lisgar.  So this is a third connection with Enbridge?

MR. WOOD:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, has Enbridge -- in connection with this third connection that you are proposing as part of Parkway West, has Enbridge contracted for new gas from you at this stage, additional gas to what it is taking through the two existing connections?

MR. REDFORD:  No.  There is no existing -- or there's no, pardon me, incremental volumes associated with the Parkway West project.

MR. BRETT:  So this third connection with Enbridge is not associated, at the moment at least, with incremental gas contracted supplies?

MR. REDFORD:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  Is it likely to be in the future?

MR. REDFORD:  Likely not that connection.

MR. BRETT:  Likely not that connection?

MR. REDFORD:  That specific connection.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.

MR. REDFORD:  But the Parkway West site --


MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. REDFORD:  -- is the likely spot for the GTA project to connect into the Dawn-Trafalgar system.

MR. BRETT:  So this would be rather -- this would be, rather, the pipeline that would run -- are you telling me that the pipeline that would run to Albion would start at the Parkway West, sort of the joint venture pipeline with Enbridge?

MR. REDFORD:  Or --


MR. BRETT:  Or your pipeline?

MR. REDFORD:  Or Enbridge's pipeline alone.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  That would come right from Parkway West?

MR. REDFORD:  It could come from Parkway West.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  Now then just one other thing on the background of this.  Now, TCPL did get approval from the NEB, as you know, back in May for an additional 4 pJs of capacity downstream of Parkway.

Does that mean that as part of that -- as far as you understand, does that mean as part of the construction under that, that is currently going on, they will have to effectively increase their take-away capacity from Parkway by 4 petaJoules?

MR. WOOD:  We believe that is the case, yes.

MR. BRETT:  So, in other words, they will go from roughly 2 to 2.4, if you are right about your current estimate of two?

MR. WOOD:  That's our estimate, yes.

MR. REDFORD:  And that is what would be included in the 2012 eastern Canadian Mainline expansion.

MR. BRETT:  That's the one that they -- right.  That's the one they got approval for in May from the NEB.

MR. REDFORD:  Right.

MR. BRETT:  And which I guess they're designing and planning and building as we speak?

MR. REDFORD:  We hope so.

MR. BRETT:  Sorry?

MR. REDFORD:  We hope so.

MR. BRETT:  We hope so; yes.  Now, a couple of other summary questions.  The existing Parkway compressors, compressors A and B, they have capacities, as I understand it, of 1.2 petaJoules and 1.8 petaJoules, respectively?

MR. WOOD:  Under the current conditions, yes.

MR. BRETT:  Under the current situation.

MR. WOOD:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  And that is winter design of 2011/2012; correct?

MR. WOOD:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  And we have talked about the current contracts at Parkway, and we have talked about the fact that -- how Enbridge takes gas at Parkway and at Lisgar.

Now, you mentioned -- this is just a small aside, but I just wanted to clear this up.  You mentioned at J.B-1-1-2 that you had considered upgrading -- I will put this in the vernacular.  I may not have it exactly right.  But the gist of that response was that you had considered upgrading an older compressor at Trafalgar to meet 2012 emission requirements, but you decided not to and you decided to retire it.

And you did retire it, I take it, on March 12, 2012; is that right?

MR. WOOD:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  And the -- how old was the compressor?

MR. WOOD:  I don't have the age with me, but I believe it was in the 50s.

MR. BRETT:  Fifty years old?

MR. WOOD:  I believe so, subject to check.

MR. BRETT:  And what would it have cost to upgrade to current standards?

MR. WOOD:  I don't know that offhand.

MR. BRETT:  I guess at 50 years, though, it is not a bad time to retire for a compressor.

And just on that point, what is the age of your compressors, your first, your older compressor at Parkway, the smaller one?

MR. WOOD:  That compressor was built in the early '90s.

MR. BRETT:  '91, '92?

MR. WOOD:  I believe it was '91, subject to check.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So now to get into the meat of this, I guess your evidence is that -- as I understand it, is that you currently have loss of unit protection for the deliveries to Enbridge at Parkway on the upstream side.

What do you call that, the suction side?

MR. WOOD:  On the suction side.

MR. BRETT:  And at Lisgar, and that loss of unit protection coverage is provided by the compressors at Bright, Lobo and Dawn; right?

MR. WOOD:  Correct.  There is coverage for Dawn and Lobo and Bright.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  So we're not talking here about -- when we talk about loss of unit protection, we're talking about the -- we're talking about the transfer, the Union TCPL transfer situation.

We're not talking about, in the first instance at least, about loss of critical unit protection for the deliveries to Enbridge at Parkway; correct?

MR. WOOD:  That's right.  Loss of critical unit is related to a compressor outage.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. WOOD:  And that is already covered on the suction side of Parkway.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So the -- just as a small point, if you had an outage -- and this is another way of saying the same thing, I think -- if you had an outage at one or other of your compressors at Parkway, it would not stop the deliveries to Enbridge at Parkway; correct?

MR. WOOD:  The only --


MR. BRETT:  Assuming a catastrophic event of some sort?  Sorry, I didn't mean to interrupt you.  Go ahead and answer the question.

MR. WOOD:  I think that's where I was heading to.

If the event was significant enough to require isolation of the Parkway yard, it could impact or would impact Parkway Consumers volumes.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  We discussed this at the technical conference, as I recall, but in the normal course, I mean, a pipeline has a -- a compressor has an outage for some reason, even though I gather that is extraordinarily rare, but if it did have one, you would still be delivering to Enbridge at Parkway, and at Lisgar?

MR. WOOD:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, then, you had an IR -- well, just a minute here.  Let me just go on -- let me just check my notes for a moment.  I'm sorry, but I did a little bit of pruning after Mr. Cameron's cross-examination yesterday.

The other point I wanted to ask is if one of compressors had an outage at Parkdale (sic), that would not, in itself, trigger an outage in the second compressor?  In other words, they function independently?

MR. WOOD:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  Now, you speak of loss of critical unit protection, and I want to take you to an IR, which gets into this in some more detail.  This is J.B-1-7-5, page 3.  You want to have that up, I think.

And I just want to take you through, briefly, the -- if you could go to page 3 of this IR, you will see there's several columns there.  The one on the far left is "Parkway contracted compressed demands."

Do you see that?

MR. WOOD:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Now, could you tell us, what does -- what is that?

MR. WOOD:  So just before I proceed on that one, Mr. Brett, we did file an updated table.  I'm not sure if this will impact the questions, but that was filed yesterday morning.


MR. BRETT:  The one from yesterday?

MR. WOOD:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  You can interpolate those numbers into it, if you like.  I know about that, and I know I am going to have to change those numbers around a bit when I put my argument in.  But I appreciate that.

MR. WOOD:  So for Park --


MR. BRETT:  So that 2,577 is different now?  Those numbers are different?

MR. WOOD:  It is 2,576.

MR. BRETT:  Oh.  Well, we can handle, I guess.

MR. WOOD:  So those numbers are the contracted demands on the discharge side of Parkway.  So those include the volumes that we're compressing through Parkway, as well as obligated deliveries.

MR. BRETT:  I see.  So that is just the way you define that?

MR. WOOD:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  So then when you -- then you do list the obligated deliveries in the second column.

The third column, you subtract the obligated deliveries from the contracted demands to get kind of a net number, which is the -- which is really the physical amount going through Parkway; right?

MR. WOOD:  Again, that has changed slightly on the table.  It is no longer the third column, but yes, we subtract that to determine the physical volumes flowing through Parkway.

MR. BRETT:  What does the 1,920 become?  Do you know?

MR. WOOD:  The 1,920 becomes 1,731.

MR. BRETT:  Oh, well, that is more of a change.

MR. WOOD:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Why is that, that the Parkway obligated deliveries have gone up quite a bit?  The 658 must have increased?

MR. WOOD:  No.  They're the same number.  We had not
-- the original number did not include the system shortfall, which we managed through services that land on the discharge side of Parkway.

MR. BRETT:  The system shortfall?  Could you explain that a little bit?

MR. WOOD:  Sure.

MR. BRETT:  In other words, just so I get the context of this, you have lowered your -- your original number at the 1,920 didn't include, well, loss of gas through Parkway?  Or loss of gas on the system somehow?

MR. WOOD:  It didn't include -- the system capacity in that year was exceeded by -- so we met that capacity through other contracts, not through physical system capacity.

In the initial chart, that wasn't evident.

MR. BRETT:  You're talking about things like parking gas at Parkway?

MR. WOOD:  I believe so.  Winter peaking service, items like that.

MR. BRETT:  Winter peaking service.  So these are your non-facility services you speak of in this IR?

MR. WOOD:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So the net effect of that, though, is that you are running through less, quite a bit less, 1,736?

Now, that would, then, change -- now, the next column is the one I am getting more interested in.  It talks about your LCU coverage volume, and then I will come back to that in a moment.  But your coverage percentage would change, then?

MR. WOOD:  It does.  It increases to 71.

MR. BRETT:  So that becomes 71 percent?

Okay.  Now, let me just pause for a sec here.  Okay.

Now, the LCU coverage volume, which is column 4, could you tell me, in layman's terms, but how do you -- how do you calculate that?

MR. WOOD:  Sorry, how do we calculate the LCU coverage volume?

MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MR. WOOD:  That is just the capacity of the Parkway A unit.

So we assume that there is a failure of the Parkway B unit, and it is just the capacity that the A unit can flow on its own.

MR. BRETT:  So that is your sort of -- your design philosophy on loss of critical unit.  You basically say:  What happens if the larger unit goes out?  Okay.  You are just saying -- I understand.  You're saying if the bigger unit had an outage, you could still use the smaller unit to move this amount through?

MR. WOOD:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  So 71 percent of the amount that you are contracted to move through, you could move through with the smaller compressor?

MR. WOOD:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  And that contracted -- now, in terms of, when I say "contracted" is there a -- do you have a contract with TransCanada at Parkway which deals with the transference, the delivery of the gas?

I'm not talking now about gas sales contracts, but what is it -- I know that TransCanada specifies a pressure under which you must deliver at Parkway, of 6,546 or something like that?

MR. WOOD:  I believe it is 6,450.

MR. BRETT:  6,450, sorry, kilopascals.  Now, that is embedded, I take it, in an agreement of some sort, is it?  A connection agreement?

MR. WOOD:  I believe so.

MR. REDFORD:  In a connection agreement.

MR. BRETT:  And is that -- now, broadly speaking, what else does that agreement cover off?

It's an agreement under which TransCanada sort of defines for you what they wish from you at Parkway?  Or...

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  It would define how we would operate at Parkway, how we would receive gas, how they would receive gas.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, is that agreement in the evidence?  I don't think it is, is it?

MR. REDFORD:  I don't think it is.

MR. BRETT:  Could it be filed?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Can we have an undertaking for that?

MR. MILLAR:  J9.2.  Mr. Brett, what is that document again?

UNDERTAKING NO. J9.2:  TO PROVIDE UNION-TRANSCANADA INTERCONNECTION AGREEMENT AT PARKWAY

MR. BRETT:  I don't know if we have a formal name.  It is the Union-TransCanada interconnection agreement at Parkway.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MR. BRETT:  We have all of the players in the room here, so they can -- if there is any...

Okay.  So now that -- all right.  That is how that is done.

Now, I take it if the smaller compressor went out, without doing the math here, the answer would be probably that all of the 1736 could be maintained; is that right?

MR. WOOD:  Currently, yes.

MR. BRETT:  Currently.  Yes.  Okay, now, do you have
-- do you gentlemen know, do you have any flexibility under those contracts -- under the contract with TransCanada in terms of the amount of pressure that you have to deliver that gas at, or is that a fixed-for-all-time number?  If you don't know, just say, but...

MR. REDFORD:  Yes, I'm not sure.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And you do say -- and we have discussed this, I think.  You say that the level of LCU coverage that you talk about on page 3 is - I think you explained this before - contingent on a sufficient level of non-facility capacity, non-facility techniques to be used from time to time?

MR. WOOD:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  Now, if you turn to page 4 just for a moment of the same IR, J.B-1-7-5, just very briefly, a question on these tables.  These are the running -- this is Parkway A, and, over on the next page, Parkway B.

I notice here that in the summer months you tend to use the smaller computer -- sorry, the smaller compressor, I take it, because it is the most economic way to go.  Is that --


MR. WOOD:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  The other thing that -- you have the running hours and non-running hours of both compressors here until March of 2012.  Could you update that to the end of June, or do you know what it is to the end of June?  Is it roughly the same numbers, or...

MR. WOOD:  I don't know offhand what it is.

MR. BRETT:  Would you be willing to update that table?

MR. SMITH:  I'm sure we can do that.  I guess I just wonder what the utility of doing that is.

MR. BRETT:  Sorry, I didn't hear --


MR. SMITH:  I just wonder what the utility of doing it is.  I am sure it can be done.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  I am just really trying to get a sense of how -- how much these machines are used and how they're used, how the one is interposed with the other.  Can we have an undertaking number for that?

MR. MILLAR:  I assume that is a "yes", so J9.3.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, no.  I think the -- I think the question then is:  Is there any reason to believe that June is different than what we have in March?  And if the answer to that is no, then I think it would be a make-work project.  But if we don't know, then we will do it.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Well, if you were to look, say, at -- I think that is fair, but I think if you looked at 2011, it does increase each month, so I don't think it is make-work in that sense.  Are we all right?

[Board Panel confer]

MR. BRETT:  It is not a great big deal.  If it is going to be a problem, let's leave it.  You know, I'm trying to move along here.

Okay, let me get to another topic.  I have two more here and they're not very lengthy, but let me -- I just want to come back to the Enbridge connection.

We talked about the second link to Enbridge -- or the third link to Enbridge that is part of the Parkway West project, and I think a lot of this I have covered, so just bear with me.

Now, if you go -- I would like you to turn up -- I will come back to this in a moment, but I would like to initially deal with it this way.  If you turn up page 4 of that attachment 7 that we were talking about, J.B-1-7-8, attachment 7, that is your presentation to the internal management decision-making committees.

If you look at the top of page 4, do you have that?  It is up on the screen here, if that helps.

MR. REDFORD:  I have that.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  You will notice there that in those first three little bullets, after the first bullet you talk about -- I will just read this:
"Union held discussions in late 2011 and early 2012 with Enbridge to understand their concerns regarding security of supply at Parkway..."

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think those dates are wrong as stated in your question, Mr. Brett.

MR. BRETT:  I see.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It is 2010 and 2011.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  Sorry, thank you.  Thank you.  2010 and 2011.
"... to understand their concerns."

And you say here:
"Enbridge expressed concern about this level of dependency given the projected impact of a Parkway outage, and Enbridge was considering a new independent third feed into the GTA."


Just help me with this a little bit.  When you say here that Enbridge was considering an independent third feed, this would be a feed that didn't come through Parkway at all; is that right?

MR. REDFORD:  It could have been a feed that either came through Parkway or did not.  They looked at various options.

MR. BRETT:  What do you mean by an independent third feed into the GTA?

MR. REDFORD:  They were looking at another means of supplying -- supplying the GTA.  And after discussing it with Enbridge, a connection at Parkway West into the GTA project met their requirements for an independent third feed.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So it would be independent of what?  Independent of their existing feeds; is that the idea?

MR. REDFORD:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  And when you say there your proposal met their needs, what would have been -- broadly speaking, what would have -- how else might they have done that?  What else might they have done?

MR. REDFORD:  One of our presentations in here discusses some of the options.

There was a Kirkwall to Parkway bullet line.  There was a Kirkwall to downtown Toronto bullet line, basically, that would either parallel or go near the existing Trafalgar system and connect in either somewhere away from Parkway or, in the case of the downtown version, connect right into downtown Toronto.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.

MS. HARE:  Excuse me, Mr. Redford.  You used the words "bullet line".  What does that mean?

MR. REDFORD:  Oh, sorry.  A bullet line would mean it runs independent of any other system, so it wouldn't be tied into Union's Trafalgar system anywhere, or any other system, until it hit the -- until it hit the Enbridge franchise.

So it would be a direct feed with no other connections between Kirkwall and Enbridge's system.

MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  And then you go on to say that:

"In July of 2011, Union and Enbridge formed a study team to evaluate security of supply at Parkway and to look for synergistic solutions to reinforce Parkway, create an independent feed for Enbridge and to expand capacity on the constrained Parkway-to-Maple path."

So you had these discussions, and then I gather -- first of all, did -- these discussions went on for a period of time?

MR. REDFORD:  For the back half of 2011.

MR. BRETT:  '11?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  Second half.

MR. BRETT:  And then you, as I understand

MR. REDFORD:  And --


MR. BRETT:  Sorry.

MR. REDFORD:  I should correct myself, sorry.

It was initially raised to us in 2010, and then we had a joint team formed in the second half of 2011 to talk more about -- about solutions.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And then you -- eventually you came up with a solution, which is listed here at page 4.  And the solution has a number of components to it, but it -- you can all read them.

You would build and own Parkway West, and additional volumes could then be considered.  A new feed into the GTA from Parkway West to a new city gate at Albion is built.  Then Union builds and owns the remaining pipe from Albion to Maple.

And then the sum of all projects defined as the Parkway projects, so you have this package of Parkway projects.

Now, you have an MOU you reached; you reached a memorandum of understanding with Enbridge.  There's two MOUs that are referred to on page 5 of this same document.

One of them is -- the one I am interested in at the moment is the MOU with Enbridge, which sets out the joint venture approach.

I take it that that MOU sort of -- am I right in suggesting that MOU would have contained the elements of this solution that you -- that I just -- that is -- that appears on page 4 here?

MR. REDFORD:  It would have described them at a high level.

MR. BRETT:  At a high level?

And is that MOU -- that MOU is not in the evidence, I don't think, is it?

MR. REDFORD:  No.  We -- at this time, Enbridge is pursuing the GTA project by themselves.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. REDFORD:  So that portion to Albion, Enbridge is developing that project on their own.

And subject to what happens with incremental volumes to Maple, whether it's built through TCPL's system or whether it gets built through a Parkway extension project, we have not entered into the joint venture at this point.

MR. BRETT:  I see.  So you haven't progressed beyond the -- you still have the MOU, but you haven't taken it into a formal joint venture; is that what you're saying?

MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  But the MOU still is there.  And the MOU, I gather, would contain what you just described, and it also, as you say, refers at a high level to these other elements of the solution here?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Just so I understood what you just told me, you're saying Enbridge has decided for the moment -- well, it has decided to effectively -- I mean, I don't have the geography in front of us, but effectively build a pipeline connecting their franchise area to the -- to Albion, which is a point on the Parkway-Maple line; is that right?

MR. REDFORD:  Correct.  Enbridge had planned to reinforce their system.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. REDFORD:  They had pretty serious concerns about reliability, particularly feeding the City of Toronto and the GTA.

They plan to build that pipeline, whether we're part of it or not.  They need that for their reliability.

Mr. Brett:  I understand.  And am I right in concluding from what you have said that if they go ahead and build that pipeline as you've described it, they would not be building a pipeline that would come directly to Parkway West and connect with you at Parkway West; is that right?

MR. REDFORD:  That GTA project would connect at Parkway West.

MR. BRETT:  The same line that you have just -- you have just described?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  That is the GTA project.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  So where does, then -- sorry, just so I have sort of a coherent picture, then, what is the role of Albion in this?  I thought the pipeline was going to run to Albion -- from Albion.

MR. REDFORD:  The pipeline is proposed to run to Albion.  That is the point within Enbridge's system that Enbridge determined was the best spot to reinforce.  That is where they determined they needed gas to reinforce the GTA.

MR. BRETT:  Well, thank you.  I misunderstood you.

So effectively that is the terminus of the line, and the other terminus of the line is Parkway West, is what you're saying?

MR. REDFORD:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.

MS. TAYLOR:  Mr. Brett, before you move on, the last bullet on that slide indicates that Union, I am assuming, has held an open season for the extension project and the Dawn-Parkway capacity, and that closed at the end of April.

So given the answer to Mr. Brett that Enbridge intends to pursue their own bullet solution, potentially, does that mean that you do not need the Parkway extension?  Or is that facility in addition to the reinforcement activities that Enbridge is planning on their own?

MR. REDFORD:  The results of the open season for the Parkway Extension Project were not at a point where we would move a project forward.

MS. TAYLOR:  So that answers, perhaps, the second question I could have asked, but does the Parkway project, in view of the Enbridge solution, does the Enbridge solution preclude the extension?  Were the two projects interchangeable, or comparable?

MR. REDFORD:  So the way the -- the way we had proposed the project was that Enbridge was going to build into Albion, within the GTA.  And then we would jointly own the pipe to Albion.

And then Union would build from Albion to Maple, to make the path from Parkway to Maple.

Absent -- absent our ability to enter into the joint venture, Enbridge is moving forward with the pipeline to Albion.  That is their -- that is what they need to reinforce the GTA.

It was an opportunity, actually, to share -- to share a common path, to share resources, to have one footprint through that corridor, both from a socio-economic perspective and environmental perspective, and, frankly, it was less costly, because we could share the costs of the joint venture pipeline.

But that is subject to having a market, and having the market step forward for that capacity.

MS. TAYLOR:  So to be clear, then, so they were planning to build for part of the path, and your open season that would have completed the path has -- is not fully developed at this point; is that clear?

MR. REDFORD:  Correct, yes.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

MR. BRETT:  Thank you.  And just let me check my notes here.

So I understood you to say, just following up on Ms. Taylor's question, that the open season, you did finish the open season.  You got results.  But the results -- just so I understand clearly, that open season was premised on parties effectively transporting their gas on a pipeline that would originate in -- well, I know you took capacity all the way from Dawn.

But the pipeline would be a pipeline that originated in Parkway and ran to Albion as a joint venture, and then proceeded as a Union pipeline to Maple; right?

And so did you just set that aside, then, because the premise had changed?  Or did you have interest from shippers, and to what extent did you have interest?

MR. REDFORD:  We did have interest from shippers.  We're still working with the market, to rationalize that path.

We were originally planning to be in service in 2004.  That won't happen at this point, but we'll continue to work with the market.

And our belief is that either TCPL or -- or Union, or another party, for that matter, will expand through the corridor.  I don't know that there is enough capacity in the marketplace for a Parkway extension project, as well as a closing of the Parkway to Maple loop on TCPL's pipeline.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So what you would be doing -- thank you.  What you're doing is refashioning -- you would be refashioning or coming out at some point with, perhaps, with another open season to reflect the changed conditions, I guess?

MR. REDFORD:  Perhaps.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.  And now this may be a little dated, given what you have just told me, but if I could turn you to page 8 of that same attachment, attachment 7, the last bullet there on page 8:
"Parkway West facilities provide reliability and security of supply for customers east of Parkway and provide ability to re-contract existing capacity and pursue expansion capacity."


So Parkway West still is a sort of -- well, first of all, I guess that still holds, does it, to some degree?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  And I don't think that is -- that's not limited to expansion past Parkway.  That would include expansion on the Dawn-Parkway system.  You know, we believe that flows through Parkway will reach 3 pJs a day, at least 3 pJs a day, by 2015/2016, and we believe that that reliability that Parkway West provides will keep people contracted on the Dawn-Parkway path, including Enbridge.

And there was a real threat that Enbridge was not going to continue contracting on the Dawn-Parkway path, and that was the third feed into Toronto.

And it wasn't just the Parkway West reliability that convinced Enbridge that Dawn-Parkway is a good way to go.  It was also the reliability of our pipeline system.  So I would suggest that --


MR. BRETT:  Okay.

MR. REDFORD:  -- Parkway West not only allows us to -- you know, it might be a launching point, so to speak, or a spot where you could expand past Parkway, but it also allows us to expand on the Dawn-Parkway system as it is today.

MR. BRETT:  All right, thank you.  I just have got another couple of minutes here, and I may not even have that.  Just let me go through this.

Oh, yeah.  If I may come back to the -- I meant to actually ask this and I think we got a little sidetracked, but -- it was helpful but we got a little sidetracked.

I was going to ask you if you could -- I don't think it is in the evidence.  I was going to ask you if you could file the MOU with Enbridge.

MR. SMITH:  I have two concerns about it.  First, we have canvassed the ways in which the MOU is not being acted upon, and the second is the document would be highly confidential.

The confidentiality may be addressable.  There may be concerns about the confidentiality of that document and whether all parties who have executed a confidentiality agreement would be entitled to see it in unusual circumstances.  And I am not sure, necessarily, whether these would fit that category.  I would have to reflect on it.

But in unusual circumstances, parties who have a direct competing interest are precluded from seeing even confidential documents.

But I would say the first question to ask is:  Is it relevant having regard to the evidence we have already heard about how Union is not acting on the MOU?

MR. BRETT:  Well, I guess on that point, I did take care to go back, and Mr. Redford did say that there was not going to be a joint venture pipeline.  But I then went back and said that the other elements of that solution, other than the joint venture pipeline, were still -- still in place.  I think he said, yes, they were.

And so it is really -- I think it is relevant in the sense that it lays out this combined approach to, you know, what will be ultimately very, very expensive, large construction projects for both utilities, even though there's been a change in respect of the ownership of a piece of it.

MS. HARE:  I would like to ask for comments from other parties.  Mr. Cass, you look like you are ready to add something to this debate?

MR. CASS:  I am ready.  The microphone may not be.  There we go.

Madam Chair, I'm not familiar with this particular document.  I didn't come here in this case expecting to address submissions to the document.

With the greatest of respect, though, I must say that as a relative newcomer to this case, I feel like I've wandered into a facilities case rather than a rate case.

I guess there's some theory of relevance that attaches these questions and the request for production of this document to Union's 2013 rates, but, speaking for myself, I have not heard that theory of relevance and I am at a loss to understand it.

This is a document that relates to projects that we have heard at this point are not going ahead in accordance with the terms of the MOU.  Even if some facilities case, without 2013 rate implications, was still somehow relevant to the 2013 rate case, which I don't understand, I certainly don't see how a project that is not going ahead in the way that it is set out in the document could be relevant to 2013 rates.

In short, the relevance of it completely escapes me.  The confidentiality I am concerned about.  I can't make a detailed submission on that, because, as I say, I am not familiar with the document sitting here today.

I think there should at least be -- if the Board considers it to have some relevance, I think there should be at least an opportunity that we go back and look at the confidentiality issue and be able to address the Board further on that.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Any other submissions?  Mr. Thompson?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, just briefly.  In terms of its relevance, Union -- I submit it is relevant.

Union has presented this Parkway West project in its application.  There is an issue of:  Is the capital budget appropriate?

This is an item of the capital budget for 2013, and, more importantly, the company is now saying, Well, we only put this in because of some filing guidelines requirements.

I think we need to get some clarity on that.  And we are putting it off to an LTC application to be brought in the fall.

My submission is I think there is a question here about some guidance that the Board should issue about that LTC application, because my perspective - and I will be taking the witnesses through it - this LCU unit is not a stand-alone item.  It is part of a suite of projects, and it now involves an Enbridge-solely project.

I think all of those projects should be before the Board in an LTC application so you consider the entire issue at one time.

So I say this is a document of relevance in that context.  Those are my submissions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  The only other thing is it is a document between two companies that the Board regulates with respect to facilities that the Board has to approve.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Any other submissions?  Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  Well, I mean, I would echo Mr. Cass's submissions.  We have said for some time that the Parkway West project should not be an issue in this proceeding.

So I would echo Mr. Cass's comments with respect to the relevance of it.  I don't think that it matters whether or not Union and Enbridge are regulated in that context, because there's going to be a proceeding in front of this Board in which that will be considered, to Mr. Thompson's last point.

And to pick up on that, to the extent parties are going to say all of this should be dealt with in another proceeding, I guess my answer to that is, if everybody feels that way, they should put up their hand and we can be done with this and move forward and have a Donnybrook in another proceeding.

But we're a little bit betwixt and between, but I do
-- I definitely side on the relevance of the entire line of examination.  But you have heard me on that point before.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Brett, do you have anything more to say?

MR. BRETT:  Sorry?

MS. HARE:  Do you have anything more to add?

MR. BRETT:  No.  I think -- I just say on the confidentiality side of it, I think there -- any confidentiality agreement that I have ever seen, either in the regulatory context or in a corporate context - and I have seen a lot of them - have an exemption in that -- in it for any material that's being directed to be produced by a regulator or by a court.

So I don't think ultimately there is -- and I guess secondly, you have procedures, well defined, well developed, that I think are followed religiously by participants as to how to deal with confidential material.

But that would be all I would add.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.  We will take our morning break now, and we will return at 11:20.

--- Recess taken at 10:52 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:35 a.m.
RULING

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.


Before the break we were discussing the production of the memorandum of understanding.  The relevance of this line of questioning with respect to the Parkway West extension and other alternatives was decided with the finalization of the issues list.  It was also discussed in the Board's decision on TransCanada's motion.


The Board agrees with CME's submission that a memorandum of understanding between two rate-regulated parties would, in the normal course of events, be subject to examination by the Board and interested parties.


However, the Board considers that the probative value of requiring production of the document in this case is limited, especially in light of the testimony of these witnesses on the subject.


The Board fully expects that all of these issues will be fully considered in the context of the various leave to construct applications which will be filed in due course.


Mr. Brett, I think you had a few more questions.


MR. BRETT:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair, Panel.  Actually, I looked at my notes over the break and I have concluded that all of my questions have been asked.  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Thompson, then.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson:

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Panel, I have a few questions, but before I can get to them I have to get a better understanding of the chronology.


My questions are, just to let you know where I am headed, I would like to understand better your position that this evidence was filed merely to comply with filing guidelines.


Secondly, I wanted to understand the capital budget implications of what you are proposing.  That's the 2013 capital budget.


Thirdly, I have some questions about the scope of the matters that are related to the LTC application that you described to Mr. Cass in your evidence.


And then, finally, I have a couple of questions about some of the contents of some of the productions.


But in terms of the chronology, if I could -- and I have tried to piece this together from the materials that have been produced, and what I've gathered - and perhaps you could take this subject to check - is I have gone through these various presentations, and, from what I can gather, there was a meeting between Enbridge and Union in November 2010.


That meeting is referenced in attachment 12, which I will come to in a moment.  That is attachment 12 to the exhibit that we have all been talking about, J.B-1-7-8, that was filed following the Board's order in response to TCPL's motion.


Then following that, from what I can gather, there was another meeting between Union and Enbridge on June -- it is in June of 2011.  That's also referred to in attachment 12.


Then there was a further meeting August the 2nd of 2011 between Union and Enbridge.  That's attachment 11.


Another meeting on November the 25th, 2011, at least I think it is a meeting, which I believe is attachment 10.


Then, finally, there is a meeting of Enbridge and Union executives on January 2012, and there is a presentation in the material of March 2012, which -- it looks like it is a presentation to customers.


Does that chronology sound more or less accurate, Mr. Redford?


MR. REDFORD:  In terms of the presentations that have been presented?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.


MR. REDFORD:  I think so.  I'm just having a hard time following the attachment numbers, but...


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, we will walk through it a bit together here.  So if you could start with, then, attachment 12, this is at the back of the material that was filed in June. It's dated June 15th, 2011.  It is entitled "Confidential", "Presented to Enbridge Gas Distribution".  Do you see that?


MR. REDFORD:  I do.  I have that.


MR. THOMPSON:  And if you go to the fourth page of that, you will see a page entitled, "Summary of Last Meeting - Nov. 15, 2010".  Do you see that?


MR. REDFORD:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And following that page, there's a description of Enbridge concerns.  Do you see that?


MR. REDFORD:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And then there is -- following that, there is a description of what Union did since the November meeting in terms of responding to Enbridge concerns.  So could you just help us with what prompted the November meeting?


MR. REDFORD:  My understanding was that Enbridge had expressed concern to Union with respect to the reliability on the Dawn-Parkway system and that they were looking at various ways of increasing their security supply and reliability.


MR. THOMPSON:  And did Union have concerns as of that date, as well, or were you merely responding to Enbridge's concerns at this meeting, the initial meeting?


MR. REDFORD:  We had identified the potential need for LCU, for a loss of critical unit at Parkway, in 2010.  That was really based on the pattern of flow out of Parkway.


You know, certainly in 2009, with a much different pattern than what we have seen in the past, alerted us, and it took us into 2010 to realize that that was likely going to repeat itself.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So you did have some concerns at the time of this initial meeting.  It wasn't just Union.  It was Enbridge and Union?


MR. REDFORD:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so following the initial meeting, there were some takeaways, and you came back in June with your presentation, which is attachment 12; fair?


MR. REDFORD:  I think that is fair.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And you have "Options Considered", and this is where you had the Parkway West, which would produce a new feed for Enbridge and the option of the bullet line that you discussed with Ms. Taylor; right?


MR. REDFORD:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the recommendation from Union was, Let's go with the Parkway West solution to your problems and our problems?


MR. REDFORD:  Correct.  That was our solution.


MR. THOMPSON:  And in terms of the next steps, if you go to slide 22 of this presentation, the outcome was a joint team from Union and Enbridge to move Parkway West and other options forward.  Then there is a note "Timing is critical":

"Both Union and Enbridge filing Phase II Incentive Regulation evidence."


What is that note intended to convey?


MR. REDFORD:  I think it was intended to convey that if we were proposing a project in the 2014 time frame, we would want -- we would want it identified.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, the way I read it is you wanted to get these projects into rate base so that they would qualify for any ROE deadband over the allowed Board ROE that might be in an incentive plan.  That comes out here, as well as later in the slides that Mr. Cameron was referring you to.  Fair?


MR. REDFORD:  I think without -- this was in June of 2011.  It would have been very difficult for us to meet a 2013 in-service with an LCU.  So we would have looked at 2014 in-service.

MR. THOMPSON:  Regardless of when you are in-service date was, you wanted to get them out on the table so they would qualify for this deadband relief, deadband opportunity, if it indeed it existed, when incentive regulation II was established?

MR. REDFORD:  I am not sure that is the reason we did it.  We felt we needed to identify it, because we were going through, potentially, new regulatory processes.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so then we move forward to the next meeting, based on the presentations, and that is in attachment 11, I believe.

And this is one dated August 2, 2011, about -- not quite two months following the June meeting; fair?

It is entitled:  "EGD/Union joint task force meeting number 2."

I assume the first one was June 15th.

MR. REDFORD:  I have that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Are you a participant in all these meetings, sir?

MR. REDFORD:  I was at this meeting in August.  I was not at the meeting in June or November.

MR. THOMPSON:  How about you, Mr. Wood?

MR. WOOD:  I have not attended these meetings.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, then I will put my questions to you, Mr. Redford.

So if we go through the -- quickly through the slide presentation, at slide 3 we have, once again, Enbridge concerns:

"Distribution system.  Concerns:  Upstream supply.  Mitigation of TCPL toll uncertainty."

What's that mean?  They want to convert from long-haul to short-haul?

MR. REDFORD:  That would appear to be it.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Then the next one, we have Union concerns:

"Re-purpose Dawn-Kirkwall turnback, de-bottleneck Parkway, third feed for Enbridge.  Increase supply into Dawn."

I don't see LCU there.  The reason I suggest we don't see it is the LCU unit was really part of this -- of this Parkway extension concept.  You needed it to move the stuff beyond Parkway.

MR. REDFORD:  Well, we look -- I don't know that it's specific to Enbridge's volumes.  We have said that we expect three pJs a day of throughput through Parkway by 2015/2016.  And that was our view then, that Parkway was becoming a critical point in infrastructure in Ontario's gas delivery system.

And we -- we were looking at LCU as something that would be reasonable and something that is warranted at those flows.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And it was part of the -- part of the comprehensive solution for Union of the de-bottlenecking at Parkway, which was, as your number 2 bullet at this time, you needed that de-bottlenecking to re-purpose Dawn-Kirkwall turnback.

That is the way I read these presentations.

MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.  We needed that bottleneck -- de-bottleneck.  Whether that was us de-bottlenecking or TransCanada de-bottlenecking that path, either way it achieved that purpose.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Then the presentation goes on at slide 5.  We have the existing Parkway facilities, and that goes on for some pages.

At page 23, you say -- there is actually no page on it, but it is entitled:
"Parkway interconnect to Enbridge and TCPL."

There is a note at the bottom:

"Expanding east of Parkway to TCPL would require a new compressor that would help provide back-up to the existing units."

And then on page 24, you talk about a Union and Enbridge operational relationship.

So the first item in the presentation at that time was the existing Parkway facilities.

Then you go, at page 26, to new Parkway West; right?

MR. REDFORD:  Correct.

That page, is it page 23?  The map?  The schematic?

At the time -- and I'll have to recall what our discussions were -- we did look at compression for volumes east of Parkway.

Our belief was that we were getting -- with forecasted volumes we're getting close to the point where Parkway A and B were compressing at full pop.  So they were fully maxed out, which is the 2.54 pJs a day.

And that we would have needed LCU to back -- loss of critical unit, which is -- really is defined as Parkway B.

I would say since this time, that's no longer -- this is no longer our proposal.  We would -- if that is the LCU unit that we're talking about, it is solely intended to back up Parkway A and Parkway B units, and is not for moving gas into Enbridge's system.

If we were maxed out at Parkway and we needed to move gas into Enbridge's system, we would build another compressor.

One of the principles of loss of critical unit is -- is that you need to have X amount of horsepower available, and using that horsepower doesn't make it available.

So our proposal that's out now is Parkway West project is an LCU unit.  It's a second feed to Enbridge.  That's what's in the evidence.  It's independent of whether the GTA project goes forward.

Our belief is that there will be 3 pJs a day moved through Parkway in the next four or five years, and that LCU will be required.

So while this -– this -- our proposal has definitely morphed from this schematic.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, anyway, this was as of August of 2011.

And the next steps are described at 36.  They're talking about:

"Identify work specific SME groups can work together on."

What does "SME" stand for?

MR. REDFORD:  Subject matter experts.

MR. THOMPSON:  Subject matter experts?  Okay.

MR. REDFORD:  Getting the engineers together.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And there are face-to-face meetings set for August 16th.

Just back on page 31, there is a word that is used and it is used in a number of occasions describing Parkway West, and it is "redundancy," which to me means unnecessary.  But at 31 it is:

"Parkway West provides complete redundancy."

What does that mean?

MR. REDFORD:  Well, I would suggest that redundancy does not mean unnecessary.

Loss of critical unit protection in its own definition is redundant capacity, and it is there because the loss of a compressor unit is -- it is a low-probability, high-risk proposition.

And that goes for the second feed into Enbridge.  It is a low-probability but very high-risk proposition.  If you lose a feed to Enbridge at Parkway, that pipeline discharges immediately into Enbridge's delivery system, which serves half the GTA, basically from the top of the GTA down to the lake, all the way over to the Don Valley.

So I would say that you may call it -- that it is unnecessary.  I would say that's debatable.  We believe it is necessary.

MR. THOMPSON:  I just asked you what the word means.

Mr. Cameron has gone through probabilities and all that stuff, and I am sure that will be part of the LTC application.

But just in terms of the chronology, I want to bring this forward quickly, if I can.

The next one is attachment 10, which is November 27, 2011.  It is described in the -- as I understand it, in the letter that enclosed these materials, as a presentation to Enbridge.

Was it a presentation to Enbridge?  It is called, "Reinforcing Ontario's Natural Gas Infrastructure".

So the scope of all of these projects is getting larger, when I read this presentation?

MR. REDFORD:  This was a summary put together based on the work the working group completed.

If you look back to the attachment number 11 and you leaf through the information in there, there is a lot of reliability information in there, not just on compression.  It is on reliability of the Dawn-Parkway system.

We have our layout of our pipelines.  We talk about depth of cover.  We talk about integrity and management.

Enbridge conducted a thorough review of our system to make sure that Dawn-Parkway was reliable and that they would support a third feed at Parkway West, and we spent a lot of time discussing details about our system reliability.

And the November 25th was -- oh, my apologies.  November 25th was the -- November 25th is not the summary of that.  My apologies.  It was the one that came later.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Was the November 25th presentation to Enbridge, was my question, or was it to a broader audience?

MR. REDFORD:  It was to Enbridge.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So by this point in time, between August and November, we're now talking about reinforcing Ontario's natural gas infrastructure.

And if we go to page 3, we've got supply issues:  Marcellus to Ontario; Marcellus to Dawn; markets, Parkway to Albion/Maple, Maple to EDA/export.  We are now talking about potential shippers downstream of Maple.

The next slide, 4, Union, Enbridge and Gaz Métro are identified.  Am I correct that at this point in time all of this was going on in parallel with the Union/Enbridge/Gaz Métro participation in the TransCanada case?

MR. REDFORD:  I would have to check.  I'd have to check as to when that -- that's not my area of responsibility.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, if you know, fine.  If you don't, fine.

Page 4, they identify -- what is being identified here -- Union apparently identified this, as I read it, the possibilities of Union, Enbridge and GazMét converting TCPL long haul to short haul.  That is the 722 tJs per day that is identified in that slide?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the following slide is identifying potential shippers of Marcellus to Ontario, again Union, Enbridge, GazMét and Marcellus producers?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right?  And there is a note at the bottom of page 5 about:
"With Debottlenecking of Parkway to Maple, there is significant new demand for gas at Dawn sufficient to support new upstream infrastructure."


At slide 6, they're talking about the joint Enbridge/Union team and the Enbridge drivers and the Union drivers.

And then over on page 8, we have a description of the projects, and there now appear to be four of them linked, Parkway compression, pipe from Parkway to Albion, and pipe Albion to Maple and Maple area compression.

Is that correct?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  At this point we would have started talking about potential of getting to Maple.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then on the "Next Steps" at page 14, you are moving forward with conclusion -- coming to a conclusion on ownership structure, formalize Union and Enbridge relationship, open season, execute precedent agreements, and Union positions Parkway West to align with joint project.  Enbridge files GTA reinforcement project.  Enbridge and Union file Parkway to Maple project.

That was all in the game plan as of November 2011; fair?

MR. REDFORD:  I would say it was a potential.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then we come forward to -- the next attachment, I believe, is attachment 9, which is now a meeting of the Enbridge and Union executives; fair?

MR. REDFORD:  Mm-hm.

MR. THOMPSON:  And we go through the same background with respect to all of these interconnected projects.

And starting at page 10, we have the description of TCPL expansion options as Union identified them.  Mr. Cameron took you to some of this.

At pages 12 and 13, we have the conclusions that you drew about your proposition, yours and Enbridge's, compared to the TCPL; fair?

That is what the topic heading is and that's what the words are discussing?

MR. REDFORD:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then at page 14 you talk about the Parkway to Albion to Maple project.  That goes on at some length.

Then at page 18 you talk about new supply to Dawn, and then you have a proposed MOU Marcellus to Dawn.

So these projects, these interrelated projects, had taken on quite a scope by January 12, 2012; is that fair?

MR. REDFORD:  Well, they had -- they were a concept and they were an idea.  We had looked at -- Enbridge had identified that they were looking at a GTA reinforcement project, GTA project.

We had the idea that perhaps we could joint venture on a piece of pipe, and then Union could build to Maple, all predicated on the basis that there would be market.  So without market -- and that's why there was no joint venture agreement pulled together.  Without a market come forward and us developing the project, there wasn't a project.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  All right.  That then takes us to, I believe --


MR. REDFORD:  A joint project.  My apologies.  Let me be clear.

MR. THOMPSON:  In the chronology we next go, I think, to attachment 13, which is March 2012, which is very comprehensive.  And this doesn't appear to me to be a presentation to Enbridge. It appears to be a presentation to markets or shippers.

MR. REDFORD:  Presentation to shippers.

MR. THOMPSON:  And when was that made and where?

MR. REDFORD:  That was made in March of 2012.  I would have to check as to which parties it was presented to.  I know it was presented to GMI.  It was presented to Gaz Métro, but I would have to check what other parties were -- that it was presented to.  I think there were one or two marketers.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But the focus of this is the Parkway extension project and all of its interrelated elements, including the Parkway West project; fair?

MR. REDFORD:  Well, the focus was garnering support for the Parkway extension project.  And, as part of that, we described other elements of what's happening at Parkway, so, for instance, Parkway West.

MR. THOMPSON:  Anyway, the presentation is some 48 pages, and it includes Parkway West.  It includes really all of the elements that have been worked on to that point in time.  I am trying to paraphrase it so I don't spend too much time on this.

MR. REDFORD:  I think that is fair.  We would show our proposal for loss of critical unit at Parkway West as a reason for parties to contract out of Dawn, to contract out of Dawn to either Parkway or to Maple, as we were proposing, and then short haul from there.

So we saw Parkway West as an integral part of that, that that reliability would be a key piece in having people come to our system.

MR. THOMPSON:  I agree with you.  It is a part, an integral part of a broad suite of projects.

Just a couple of questions here on some slides you were talking to -- I think it was Mr. Quinn about yesterday, slide 8 and 9 in this presentation.

And slide 8, as I understand it, is your calculation of TCPL tolls from Parkway to Maple; is that right?

MR. REDFORD:  That would be from Maple to --


MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, sorry.

MR. REDFORD:  -- to other markets.

MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry.

MR. REDFORD:  Maple still today is not a receipt delivery point.  So there was no posted toll for Maple transportation, so we had to estimate it.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So these are short-haul tolls on TCPL on a point-to-point basis that you have estimated based on current methodology?

MR. REDFORD:  Based on -- that's correct, based on the '11 approved and the 2012 proposed rates.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Then the next page, page 9 is where I guess where you had some -- well, let's just go to page 10 first and then come back to page 9.

Page 10, as I understand it, is your calculation of the advantages of what you call "Dawn transport," compared to the Empress to the various delivery areas set out above.

MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.  That's something our sales people put together, and it was really a comparison of landed cost to gas.

MR. THOMPSON:  And Dawn transport in this presentation, is it Dawn transport on the Dawn-to-Parkway extension?

MR. REDFORD:  It is, based on the 2012 proposed tolls.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  You are then showing that as being -- producing savings compared to the long-haul option?  Considerable savings to these various delivery areas that are set out in the chart?

MR. REDFORD:  In terms of landed cost?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Sorry.

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  Our sales people would have put that together and presented that as a reason to contract out of Dawn.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Then on the previous page, 9, what is this showing?  Is this showing short-haul tolls?

MR. REDFORD:  This -- and again, because we didn't have -- there aren't Maple tolls, Maple to other delivery point tolls established, this was our method of trying to figure out what those were.

So the red and the blue line, the solid lines, were based on the '11 final and the 2012 proposed toll.  And TransCanada is distance-based and we tried to estimate what that graph would look like.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So the graph on the left, then, as I understand it, is really a blow-up of the first column in the graph on the right?

MR. REDFORD:  It is.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Then the rest of the graph on the right is showing your calculation or your estimates of what the short-haul tolls would be from a point like Maple East?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  And there really is no differentiation in that first zero-to-100 kilometres, so we had to blow it up to see it.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Now, I just want to understand the "proposed decontracting" line that was being discussed.  This is the blue dotted line, as I understand it.

In the event there is decontracting, this line would go up.  Now, is that long-haul decontracting you're talking about there?

MR. REDFORD:  Correct.  This -- again, this was put together by our sales group, and it was a one-scenario shot at what might happen if people de-contracted long-haul and re-contracted short-haul.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so that information that was presented in March would inform the shippers, in terms of responding to the open season that you mentioned?

MR. REDFORD:  Really, it was intended to gauge that the -- that the 2012 rates, even if there was some decontracting -- and again, it is kind of a -- an estimate -- that they're in the ballpark of where the 2011 rates were.  So that they're -- you know, the rates aren't unreasonable.

MR. THOMPSON:  No, but wasn't the point of it to try to persuade them that supporting the Parkway extension, they would be better off than carrying on long-haul?

MR. REDFORD:  Well, I think the real support around that is around landed cost.  I think ultimately that is what -- that's what shippers will look for.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Okay.  Well, that's really what I was trying to say in an awkward way.

So then that -- the open season opened in March, and I think it was open til April.  And you have discussed the outcome of that.

But in between those dates, you then took the proposition or the concept to these committees, and these are attachments 7 and 8 that have been discussed; is that right?

Attachment 7, it just has an FRC or TRC meeting April 2012 in the bottom right-hand corner, and it has the presenters, Mr. Alexander, Mr. Isherwood and yourself.

Then attachment 8 is to a TRC meeting April 9, 2012, and it just has you and Mr. Isherwood as presenters.

So were there two presentations?

MR. REDFORD:  There were.  There's two groups.  In fact, the first one that says FRC or TRC should actually just be FRC.

That was left on from the corporate template.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And that's -- that's a committee -- is it a committee of Union or a committee of Spectra?

MR. REDFORD:  A committee of Spectra's.

MR. THOMPSON:  And how did things go there?

MR. REDFORD:  We got approval to advance the Parkway West project with what we would call "pre-spending."

So there were funds made available to advance the Parkway West project, which would be the LCU and the second feed to Enbridge.

MR. THOMPSON:  It is interesting that the presentation is entitled "Parkway projects," plural.  And then if you go to page 6 of this slide, it describes the Parkway projects as Parkway West, Parkway extension, and it is described as:

"A suite of projects that will eliminate the bottleneck east of Parkway and provide Enbridge the third feed to the GTA."

So that suggests that these projects are linked; fair?

MR. REDFORD:  I would actually suggest otherwise.

That meeting was in early April before the close of the open season, and our senior executive at Spectra authorized us to move forward with the Parkway West project at that time, and spend up to $37 million.

So that was before we knew the results of the open season.

So, you know, it would -- if we're presenting the Parkway West project to our executive, we would have to show that we are looking at other opportunities in that vicinity.

But we got that approval to pre-spend before the open season closed.

MR. THOMPSON:  But you weren't presenting the Parkway West alone; you were presenting it as part of Parkway projects.

MR. REDFORD:  And we're still -- and what's in front of the Board here today and what we've put in the evidence is still the Parkway project, which is LCU and the second feed to Enbridge.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.

MR. REDFORD:  It is still being proposed.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then in the second meeting, which is a little later, the TRC, is that, again, another committee of Spectra?

MR. REDFORD:  It is.

MR. THOMPSON:  Do you need approvals of both committees?

MR. REDFORD:  For certain funding, you do.  For certain levels of funding, you need the approval of both committees.

MR. THOMPSON:  Again, it is described as "Parkway projects," plural, at page 1 of this attachment 8; fair?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  We would -- again, we would, to our senior folks, we would show all of the projects at Parkway as a set of projects, and those projects, some of those projects can go independent of others.

MR. THOMPSON:  And in the presentation to these people, again, before you know the outcome of your open season, if you go to page 4 - and others have referred you to this - I wanted to refer you to the third bullet point under "Solution":
"New Parkway compression will support Enbridge new feed into the GTA (Albion) via Joint Venture between Union and Enbridge and new demands from eastern markets."


That's the Parkway West compression, correct?

MR. REDFORD:  No.  That would be separate compression, and that would be contingent upon Enbridge appropriately building -- or appropriately building -- appropriately bidding, pardon me, in our Dawn-Parkway open season.

MR. THOMPSON:  So that is the compression up near Maple that you were talking about previously?  No?

MR. REDFORD:  No.  It could be located at Parkway West, but it is not the LCU.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so then to get to the point here, you were hoping for market support, and what is the status of market support?  You're saying it is not good enough to go ahead now and you are working with the market.  What does that mean?

MR. REDFORD:  Well, I think I answered that previously, but, yeah, we're still working with the market to rationalize support for that path.

As I said before, I think either Union or TransCanada is going to obtain the amount of market necessary to hit critical mass to expand through that corridor, probably not both.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So that then brings me to my questions here.  You have included a subset of what I submit is the suite of projects in this rate application that has a capital budget, as I understood it, of $80 million in 2013.

And there was an issue on the issues list of whether the capital budget for 2013 is appropriate, and I understood that stemmed from a draft issue that Union presented in its application.

But now you're saying, as I understand you, this request for LCU approval and the capital expenditures related to it are not the subject matter of this application in any way.  Is that the position of Union, Mr. Redford?

MR. REDFORD:  That Parkway West is not the subject of this application, or we are not seeking any approvals in this application for Parkway West; that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  So does that mean that the $80 million in the capital budget, the appropriateness of that amount, is not to be evaluated in this case, but in the next round?

MR. REDFORD:  I would say, yes, it is my understanding we're not seeking specific approval of the capital budget.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, are you seeking implicit approval of this as a sort of -- not a green light, but sort of a flashing yellow?

MR. SMITH:  No.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, you said that this was all done for the purposes of filing guidelines.  Could you just refer me to the filing guideline that you are talking about?

MR. SMITH:  Well, we can do that by way of undertaking.  I can't imagine Mr. Redford has that at hand.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, he gave the evidence.  That is why I asked him, but that's fine.  An undertaking would be satisfactory.

MR. MILLAR:  J9.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J9.3:  TO PROVIDE RELEVANT BOARD FILING GUIDELINE.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Thompson, how are you doing for time?

MR. THOMPSON:  I am likely to be ten minutes more, and I understand we have a drop-dead date -- time at 12:20.  So I apologize, but I will have to finish up after lunch.

MS. HARE:  Okay, that's fine.  Why don't we break for lunch now?  We will return at 1:45.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:20 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:57 p.m.

MS. HARE: Please be seated.


Okay.  Mr. Thompson, you are going to resume your cross-examination?


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Witness panel, just to bring this discussion about these projects to a close, what I understand, Mr. Redford, from your discussion with Mr. Brett is that at the moment we have definitive projects; it's the Parkway West project of Union, and the Parkway West-to-Albion pipe, which was initially going to be a joint venture pipe, is now going to be an Enbridge pipe.  Is that -- have I understood that correctly?


MR. REDFORD:  The Parkway West project is -- I would say, is a definite.  I can speak to that.


The Enbridge GTA project, I will say that they are doing open houses.  We have had people attend those open houses.


And that Parkway-to-Albion Pipeline appears to be moving forward.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, that was part of the Parkway extension project, and what I understood you to say to Mr. Brett is that that piece of Parkway extension, Enbridge has decided to go it alone.


Has Union agreed to that?


MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  Enbridge was building that pipeline.  That was part of their upgrade of the GTA, and their ability to reinforce the GTA.


So I might put it this way, that it was us tagging along, not Enbridge tagging along with us.


It was the opportunity that came out of our discussions, but Enbridge is -- that is their project.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So the initial concept was exactly what's happening now, except it was going to be a joint venture ownership, as I understood it, on the Parkway West-to-Albion segment of the projects?


MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  Well, the way it played out, Enbridge told us that that was their -- where they preferred to see additional gas into the GTA, as part of the third feed.


And out of that, that's what drove the idea that we could perhaps do a joint venture and share capacity on that segment of pipe, and then we could look -- Union could look to build from Albion to Maple on its own, and sell that path.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so the Parkway West-to-Albion is going ahead, and I understand that that is related, in part, to the Enbridge GTA reinforcement?


MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  It is part of their GTA project.


MR. THOMPSON:  Put another way, the GTA reinforcement –- or project, whatever you call it -- is broader than simply the Parkway West-to-Albion pipe?


MR. REDFORD:  Oh, yes.  There are other components of that project.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And the possibility of the Albion-to-Maple line is now just that, a possibility, a work-in-progress, as I understand what you are saying?


MR. REDFORD:  I would say it remains a possibility.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, in terms of this LTC hearing that you were discussing with Mr. Cass and others, my question of you is this:  Should the Board be giving direction on scope now to make sure that we have one LTC hearing to deal with the entire suite of projects that are related to Parkway West and the Parkway extension, including the GTA reinforcement?


MR. REDFORD:  Well, I'm not sure that I would ask the Board to do that.


I will say that I believe Enbridge's current projection is to file in November for their project, and we would be filing in September, October.  So there would be information in front of the Board to -- at the same time, to evaluate reliability projects here in Ontario.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So the opportunity will be there to combine them into a composite hearing, I think is what I hear you saying, if the Board believes that is the most efficient way to proceed?


MS. HARE:  Mr. Smith, do you want to comment?


MR. SMITH:  Well, obviously from Union's perspective - and I expect Enbridge will say something to the extent they put in argument, but I think this is a matter of argument, and from Union's perspective, they have their own system they have to be concerned about.  Enbridge clearly has a GTA reinforcement project.  I don't know much about it, other than I'm sure they take it very seriously and they will want their own hearing to determine that.


So I suspect we will be saying very strongly that the -- that the hearings should proceed on their own and the projects evaluated on their own merit, in a hearing, and that is the best way to maintain a reasonable scope over each of those hearings and make sure that they're determined in a reasonable period of time.


MR. THOMPSON:  I will leave it for argument, Madam Chair, and move on.


Now, Mr. Redford, I would just like to get some clarity on how the NEB-approved expansion for TCPL fits into this multi-project concept that was under discussion.


Union's response to the TCPL project, response to the NEB -- there was a letter referenced at some point -- Union's response was basically their expansion was not enough, or words to that effect.


Is that a fair paraphrase of Union's response to it?


MR. REDFORD:  I think that is a fair paraphrase of our view.


Our view is that there is more market that would go beyond Parkway, even beyond the 2012 main line expansion or what was received in the open season around that.


I think there is more market.  We had interest in our open season, which would indicate that, indeed, there is an interest to get past Parkway, to Maple and points beyond.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So is TransCanada dragging its feet on relieving the bottleneck?  Is that what Union is suggesting?


MR. REDFORD:  I don't know if that is what we're suggesting.  I think one of the things we did was test the market, see what is out there.


We are -- again, as I said, one of us will need to build that pipeline.  There is not enough capacity to support -- at this time, there wouldn't be enough capacity to support TCPL expanding or Union expanding through Parkway to Maple.  And if it was TCPL that expanded through that path, at a reasonable number, you know, half a pJ a day or more, then that would be great.  We would be satisfied with that, and that fits right in with our projection that you would see three pJs a day through Parkway.


It's not -- that projection isn't really linked to the Parkway extension project.  It is linked to activity through Parkway, throughput through Parkway.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So this may be to TransCanada's evidence, where they're talking about or suggesting further consultation between, as I understand it, Union, EGD, TransCanada, to respond to everyone's concerns.


And I accept that there is some urgency here.  You want to get this done, or at least get the request in for approvals by the fall of this year.


My question of you is:  Is there any realistic prospect of success of an exercise of the type that TransCanada is proposing, i.e., a Union/EGD/TCPL combination to solve all these concerns?


MR. REDFORD:  Which concerns?


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the Union concerns that prompted you to meet with Enbridge, the Enbridge concerns that prompted Enbridge to meet with you, the GTA -- additional feed into the GTA that Enbridge wants.  You want the bottleneck solved, and you want some more juice at Parkway West in a compressor.


MR. REDFORD:  Some of that, I think, can be dealt with independently.  I think, as I mentioned yesterday, we have been consulting with Enbridge, that we have alternatives in front of us from TCPL, and that if we -- we thought we needed further information or assistance, that we would possibly reach out to TCPL.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that's all very iffy.  I just wondered if there is any realistic prospect of that.  Are you saying unlikely, or are you saying maybe, or are you saying anything?

MR. REDFORD:  Perhaps.

MR. THOMPSON:  Perhaps.  All right.  Let's leave it there.

MS. HARE:  If I could clarify, when you said, Mr. Redford, some of these issues can be dealt with independently, did you mean each issue discretely might be dealt with, or did you mean independent of any kind of involvement of the Board?

MR. REDFORD:  Oh, independently.

MS. HARE:  Independently each issue.  So one issue might be solved and not the other?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  We could possibly work together on part of the -- part of those issues.  Some of them -- some of them may not be linked.

MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.  Ms. Taylor has a question.

MS. TAYLOR:  I am scrambling to find my TransCanada evidence.

You said that you now have alternatives.  Is that because TransCanada filed them in conjunction with this proceeding?

MR. REDFORD:  Correct.

MS. TAYLOR:  So Mr. Thompson laid out a series of meetings going back to November 15th of 2010, which I guess is the first tangible evidence via a presentation.

Then these meetings extended to April of 2012, and he highlighted that the November 25th meeting was entitled "Reinforcing Ontario's Natural Gas Infrastructure", which was a meeting between -- and this is a series of meetings between two of the three parties that serve Ontario customers.

So why is it over this period of time that no effort appears to have been made to involve TransCanada in these discussions, if you are in fact talking about a comprehensive series of projects to reinforce Ontario's natural gas infrastructure -- consumers, sorry?

MR. REDFORD:  Well, part that is we're competitors, and the path between Parkway and Maple is a competitive path, and we were looking at extending our system past Parkway to Maple.  And I don't know that it's commonplace for competitors to go and let others know specifically what their plans are.

Our view was that the market needed -- there was some market need, and we wanted to try and make it happen.

MS. TAYLOR:  Sorry.  My understanding was that all of these facilities would be pushed through Ontario rate base.  Is that correct?  So it was not my understanding, based on the application that I have seen or the discussion around Parkway, that any portion of these facilities would be allocated to Union's competitive storage and transportation business.

MR. REDFORD:  No, you are correct.  They would all go to rate base.

MS. TAYLOR:  So my question is:  Without involving TransCanada in this discussion, what confidence can the Board have that this is the best solution for Ontario ratepayers?

MR. REDFORD:  Well, I believe there will be evidence in front of the Board to show that.  I think it is -- it's obligated for us to show it, to show that our evidence is a best solution out there, including providing alternatives.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Just a couple of other points and I am done, and they relate to presentations that were part of the initial filing, i.e., before TransCanada's motion.

So these would be Union's initial responses to
J.B-1-7-8, I think.  Yes.

The first one I want to draw you to -- there are two attachments in the initial filing, attachment 3 and attachment 5.  Attachment 3 was a presentation, I think it is in November of 2011.  It was entitled "New Projects For the Canadian Marketplace".

And I wanted to draw your attention to the last page of that, which is talking about the evolution of Ontario electricity demand, and it's a big broadening arrow going up.  Do you see that?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes, I do.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then if you jump forward to attachment 5, this is a presentation in April 2012 entitled "The sustainable role of natural gas in Ontario power markets."

This was Mr. Isherwood.  It's focussed entirely on power.  And if you go in a few pages, you see the same upward pointing arrow under "Historical Perspective, Power Generation, Gas Demand", and there is further detail in that presentation.

And I take it from this presentation that power gen demand is going up.  Is that a fair conclusion for me to draw?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes, I think that was the point.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Yet in this case, the company is forecasting a decline in power demand for 2013.  Can you reconcile the two presentations?

MR. SMITH:  Well, with respect, this was in a line of questioning that was pursued with Ms. Van Der Paelt in the very first panel.  She gave an answer with respect to gas-fired generation coming on after 2013, and if my friend had wanted to put this document to Ms. Van Der Paelt, which, frankly, is not unhelpful, he could have done so, and chose not to for some reason.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it was buried with information for this panel, but, in any event, I will move on.  We will leave it to argument as to the effect of these presentations on that issue.

Finally, with respect to attachments -- and maybe you can help us here, Mr. Redford, maybe you can't, but this, again, is another document that was in these documents that are the responsibility of this panel, apparently.  Attachment 4 was a presentation you made, so I assume you know something about it, on March 6th of 2012.  Is that right?

MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And if you go in to page 11, there is a description of the Bluewater River crossing replacement.

MR. REDFORD:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And can I take it you know something about that?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes, I do.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And it's providing for a pipe that is larger, as I understand it, than the existing leased pipe; is that right?

MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  It is 20-inch pipe, and the current leased pipe is what size?

MR. REDFORD:  It is 12.

MR. THOMPSON:  Twelve.  And the third bullet point says that it is being installed to continue service between Michigan and Dawn?

MR. REDFORD:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Does that mean Michigan storage and Dawn, primarily?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  The main user on that line is Bluewater gas storage.  So it would -- I would agree that that's a fair characterization.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then you go on to page 17 and it talks about St. Clair to Dawn, and I take it that means from the St. Clair crossing down to Dawn?

MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.  That would be the middle of the St. Clair River on the St. Clair River crossing to Dawn.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And that ties in with the Belle River Mills line on the MichCon side?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  Eventually it does, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the slide is talking about an open season there of 180,000 MMBtu available April 1, 2012.  Is that an open season that took place?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And was this firm service?  It talks about C1 rate schedule.

MR. REDFORD:  Yes, it was.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so would that be the same route, more or less, as was being contemplated in the Dawn-Gateway pipeline, connecting Michigan and Dawn?

MR. REDFORD:  Same path, yes, more or less.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And in the Dawn-Gateway case, Union had contracted for 100,000 a day for ten years.  That was the Union unregulated side.  Are you aware of that?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And did Union bid into this open season -- the St. Clair-to-Dawn is utility capacity, as I understand it?

MR. REDFORD:  St. Clair-to-Dawn is Union's capacity.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And did Union unregulated bid into this open season, as it did into Dawn Gateway?

MR. REDFORD:  I -- I don't believe it did.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Did others?

MR. REDFORD:  I think that was answered in interrogatories.  I believe there was an interrogatory on that.  That would be -- that would probably fall under Ms. Cameron or Mr. Isherwood's guys.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, can you help me with what -- your understanding of what it said?

Did others contract -- sorry, did others bid on this capacity?  And was it awarded to them?  Or do you know?  And if not, perhaps you could just undertake to tell me.

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  I would have to undertake.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, just while we're on that, then, the Bluewater-to-Dawn, there is the same thing -- it's on the next page -- an open season.

Did Union unregulated bid on it, to any of that capacity, to your knowledge?

MR. REDFORD:  I don't believe it did.

MR. THOMPSON:  And can you undertake to include in the previous undertaking the -- any contracts that were awarded as a result of that open season?

MR. REDFORD:  That have been awarded?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that were bid on it, first of all, and then if any were awarded, yes.  Sorry.  If any were taken up, I guess is the word.

Can we do that by way of undertaking, one undertaking to deal with both the St. Clair and Bluewater open seasons?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, that's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  J9.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J9.4:  TO CONFIRM WHETHER UNION UNREGULATED BID ON ST. CLAIR AND BLUEWATER OPEN SEASONS.

MR. THOMPSON:  And with that, thank you.  Those are my questions, Madam Chair.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Mr. Millar, do you have questions?

MR. MILLAR:  I do not.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.
Questions by the Board:


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Just a couple of questions related to -- I believe it is attachment 13, if I can just find the reference.

The document I am actually looking for is this document.

MR. REDFORD:  Okay.  Slide 9.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Slide 9 of attachment 13?

MR. REDFORD:  Correct.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  What this document shows is that the decontracting from, at least -- perhaps you could correct me if my understanding is wrong, but what I understand this to be saying is if shippers de-contract with TCPL, that the dotted lines represent the rate increases that would follow from that event; is that so?

MR. REDFORD:  Under a specific set of circumstances.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It's a theoretical construct?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  There was actually some de-contracting, some re-contracting assumed as part of that, and it was a -- it was a pretty high-level estimate.  I mean, it was not an analytical tool put together by our sales people.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It was, I take it, sort of designed to give you a directional --


MR. REDFORD:  Indicative.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- indication as to what would happen if there was a certain amount of de-contracting that occurred with respect to TCPL -- from TCPL shippers?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  It was meant to be indicative, correct.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Was there any analysis done as to whether there is a differential effect, according to the kind of customer you might be, or where you might be located?

MR. REDFORD:  In terms of?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, for example, would the increases that we see here be more prevalent if you were a northern customer?

MR. REDFORD:  I think that it would be based on distance, so distance from Parkway.  So dependent on what your distance is from -– from Parkway, pardon me.  From Maple.

Dependent on what your distance is from Maple, you would follow along the line and find out what your toll would be.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.

MR. REDFORD:  Or what it could be.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So this doesn't reflect, in any way, implications for shippers in northern Ontario?

MR. REDFORD:  You know, I would not rely on it as analytical material to provide that.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Do you know if the company did any analysis along those lines?

MR. REDFORD:  I don't believe so.  I mean, that would be something you would have to ask the gas supply panel or one of the other panels.

But this was really -- it was really a sales tool.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Fair enough.  You are not aware of any such analysis?

MR. REDFORD:  No.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.

MS. TAYLOR:  Can I ask one quick follow-up?

Given your answer -- I can't talk -- your answer, Mr. Redford -- now that I got that out -- you answered Mr. Sommerville's question about the customers in the north with the answer:  The farther away you are from Maple, the higher the toll would be?

MR. REDFORD:  Correct.

MS. TAYLOR:  So is that not a yes?  I am assuming that the northern customers are farther away from Maple from those in Union's southern delivery area; is that correct?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  If you knew your distance to where you are delivering between Maple, you could surmise what -- you know, what that toll might be.  But it's not -- I wouldn't rely –-

MS. TAYLOR:  I appreciate it is indicative.

MR. REDFORD:  Yeah.

MS. TAYLOR:  But based on your answer, and just straight geography –-

MR. REDFORD:  Oh, yes.

MS. TAYLOR:  -- I would assume that the distance from southern delivery area in Union's area to Maple and the northern delivery area, the latter is longer than the former; is that correct?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  You could get an idea.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  Sorry.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The other question I have relates to something further on in that attachment, page 13.

It goes to a subject matter that Mr. Thompson was talking to you about, and your answer that you're a competitor with TCPL.

As I read this slide number 13, that becomes very, very clear in this slide, where, for example, it says if Union and Enbridge combine demands and work together to capture synergies and build a larger project, TCPL is less competitive.

So it is a very explicit competitive environment that you are addressing there; is that fair?

MR. REDFORD:  I think it is fair.  We have TCPL connect into us at Kirkwall.  They connect into us at Parkway and at Dawn.  They deliver gas at all three of the key points in our system.

And I would say that they are competitors along that entire path.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  The fourth bullet point says that:

"The costs for existing TCPL shippers to withdraw from the TCPL project..."

Which is referenced above in the slide.

"... are limited to commitments incurred by TCPL to date.  If before May the 1st, most of which are the NPV..."

I presume net present value.

 "... of TCPL's Union M12 contracts, which Union may be willing to negotiate away if the current TCPL shippers were to shift support to our project with M12 capacity and take TCPL's M12 capacity."

Do I gather that the idea here is that Union would be prepared to create circumstances that would allow -- that would facilitate the de-contracting?

MR. REDFORD:  Correct.  So if a party is contracted for service with TCPL and TCPL takes capacity on Union's system to facilitate that contract - so an example would be Niagara-to-Enbridge CDA - and TCPL takes a Kirkwall-to-Parkway contract as part of that, if at some point a party decides that they want to exit that relationship with TCPL, and assuming that TCPL is -- has already committed to Union's contracts, then Union would look to negotiate with TCPL to assign the contract back to Union, or to have the contract assigned to the third party so -- or the other party, so that they could continue to contract on a path.

And it really refers -- so, as a third party, there is no net difference in commitment.  The only difference is is that your commitment would be to Union versus to TCPL.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So given the perception that you have -- and I'm not suggesting there is anything inherently wrong with that, but the perception that you have that you are in competition with TCPL, the idea of de-contracting has the apparent effect of increasing TCPL rates, which presumably makes de-contracting from TCPL ever more attractive.

Is that part of the mixture here?

MR. REDFORD:  I guess.  One of the things I will point out with our system is we are short and squat.  We run from Dawn to Maple.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's not a physical description?

MR. REDFORD:  I was going to say short and fat, and I thought that might elicit some laughter, so it is a short, fat system.

[Laughter]

MR. REDFORD:  And, as I said before, no matter which way you cut it, you have to -- if you want to go past Maple, you're going to have to take TCPL capacity.

So, in many respects, if you wanted to -- let's say a Parkway extension project occurred and you wanted to get to Union EDA or Montreal.  You still have to contract on TCPL.  We can't get you there.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Smith, re-direct?
Re-Examination by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  I do have some questions, Madam Chair.  Thank you.  Just to pick up on Member Sommerville's questions, you indicated earlier, Mr. Redford, about the importance of reliability to Enbridge under the Dawn-Parkway system, and you talked about the threat of de-contracting on the Dawn to Parkway system by Enbridge.

What is the consequence of that, and what would be the impact on Union and, directionally, its in-franchise customers?

MR. REDFORD:  Well, I believe it is a real threat.  Enbridge was looking at reliability to serve their customers in their franchise area.

They could have other options.  We talked about the bullet line.  In effect, what that would -- in order to get critical mass to build such a project, Enbridge would take some volumes off of the Dawn-Parkway system, which means that Dawn-Parkway may not be full.  And if that is the case, that's not a good situation for any of our ratepayers, whether that is in-franchise customers or M12 customers.

It is in everybody's best interest, within our ratepayers, to keep Dawn-Parkway full.

MR. SMITH:  And let me just, if I could, turn up attachment 3(d).  This is TCPL's answer to Union interrogatory 3(d), page 4 of 11, and I recognize this isn't your document.  It is a TCPL document, but I think it might be of assistance here, visually, just to assist the Board.

So if I could ask that that be turned up?  Do members of the Board have it in hard copy or not?  We will wait for it to be turned up.

MS. HARE:  We could get it.

MR. MILLAR:  We have become spoiled.

MR. SMITH:  Well, I understand how that happens, because it happens to me -- oops.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  If you have a copy you could distribute to the Panel --


MS. HARE:  I think we have it here.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just kidding.

MR. SMITH:  It has my incredibly helpful annotations on it.

Page 4 of 11, this is what is described by TCPL as build versus backhaul annual costs.  But just so we have the points on the map here, where is Union?

MR. REDFORD:  I am assuming Union is the red line.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And then what happens going up to the -- directionally up the left-hand arrow?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Up the left-hand arrow, that would be backhaul up -- the Great Lakes Gas transmission system, gas that flows in that direction would come out of Dawn up Great Lakes gas transmission system to Emerson and would flow across the northern Ontario line and make its way down to Maple, or wherever the arrow is ending, the green arrow is ending.

We have affectionately termed that "around the horn".

MR. SMITH:  And what happens to Union volumes when you go around the horn?

MR. REDFORD:  Union volumes -- well, it's volumes that we could not otherwise expand, or potentially it is volumes that would come off our system.

MR. SMITH:  Is this one of the alternatives that TCPL has put forward?

MR. REDFORD:  It is, yes.

MR. SMITH:  You were asked a question by Member Taylor that asked about discussions with TCPL, and I would just ask that -- I am sure this was because you weren't there, but you can identify the document for us.

Can you please just turn up J.B-1-7-8, attachment 6?  And what is this document?

MR. REDFORD:  This was a presentation given to TransCanada in October of 2011.

MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you to turn to page 2?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And what is discussed under the agenda?

MR. REDFORD:  Generally, Kirkwall exports in decline, the need to de-bottleneck Parkway West, and strategic considerations.

MR. SMITH:  And can I ask you to turn to page 6?  What is discussed on page 6 and how does it relate to -- if at all, to what's been proposed in this proceeding?

MR. REDFORD:  Well --


MR. SMITH:  What's in evidence in this proceeding, pardon me.

[Laughter]

MR. REDFORD:  Page 6 is a nice summary of our system.  Dawn is not shown on the drawing.  It starts at Bright and shows the east end of our system, Kirkwall, and of course Parkway.  And the numbers on the page really talk about the puts and takes of what we expect and have seen on the system.

So, for instance, at Kirkwall, it used to export about one-and-a-half Bcf a day.  As of 2013, we have had about a Bcf a day turnback.  So that would be the evidence that Kirkwall -- what we would call exports, but Kirkwall deliveries to TransCanada are in decline, steep decline.

At Parkway, it also shows that the Parkway (Cons) and Lisgar feed or feeds, if you will, move about 1.6 Bcf a day to Enbridge, and that's expected to stay the same at that feed.

Those blue arrows and the blue box around "Bright" really are the pieces in our system that have loss of critical unit coverage.  So there would be a loss of critical coverage unit at Bright/Lobo, dependent on where the critical unit is, and that depends on operations.  There is always a unit held in reserve.

Deliveries to Kirkwall and deliveries to Parkway (Cons) -- Consumers, sorry, and Lisgar would be loss of critical unit protected up to the point of suction at Parkway.

And the red arrows talk about the lack of LCU coverage or loss of critical unit coverage at Parkway, which is box C.

Also, it talks about the fact that the design day at Parkway has increased from half a Bcf in 2005 to 1.6 in 2011, and then a further 2.6 Bcf in 2015.

MR. SMITH:  And are you aware of any response from TCPL to this presentation prior to this proceeding?

MR. REDFORD:  I'm not -- I'm not aware.  I was also not at this meeting.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Can I ask you to turn -- this may be for you, Mr. Wood, maybe for Mr. Redford.  I'm not sure.

You were asked some time ago by Mr. Cameron about
J.B-1-1-2, attachment 1; do you recall that?  And he pulled up this diagram, which appears to be upside down.  I know very little about this, except that.

You were asked some questions about it, but in reference to this exhibit, can you please just describe, then, pictorially how the LCU protection would work and what is, in fact, being protected?

MR. REDFORD:  Okay.  I can start to answer that.  Mr. Wood can help when I run into trouble.

There are two compressor units at Parkway, Parkway A, Parkway B.

MR. SMITH:  Just so we have it, so where is Parkway, then?

MR. REDFORD:  Oh.  Parkway is the gray lines, the grey dotted lines.

If you drew a big box around -- yes, a little smaller.  Oh, thank you.  A big box from measurement to TCPL, out along the -- down to the Trafalgar lines, out past the dotted gray line that is on the right that goes to the measurement, that is kind of Parkway.

MR. SMITH:  And this may be completely unnecessary, and I apologize, but approximately how big is the Parkway site?

MR. REDFORD:  That's a great question.  I was going to say for -- well, I was going to say 65 acres, but I'm not sure that's...

MR. SMITH:  That's fine.  I just wanted to get a sense of the size of it.  If it's more or less, that's fine.

Okay.  Why don't we blow it back down and just describe exactly -- continue.  If we could shrink it?  Thanks.

MR. REDFORD:  So there is two compressor units at Parkway, Parkway A and Parkway B.

Each has their own capacity when running as a single unit, together as -- when they run in parallel, so when they run together, they're about 2.54 pJs a day of capacity.  That 2.54 PJs a day capacity would equate to in the ballpark of 27,000 megawatts of energy.

So those two compressors would push enough gas and enough energy through Parkway that it would be equivalent to the largest single-day peak demand in electricity in Ontario that we've seen, and that was back in August of 2006, I believe.

The loss of critical unit is meant to protect the loss of one of those units, and the principle behind loss of critical unit is that you protect loss of the largest unit, which makes sense.

Parkway B is the largest unit.  It's a 47,000-horsepower unit.  And if it -- if it fails or it is not available, we would lose 1.1 pJs a day of throughput through that compressor, through the yard.

MR. SMITH:  So just identifying in the map, where is the LCU protection going there?

MR. REDFORD:  The LCU protection is going across the 407.  Highway 407 abuts Parkway on the west side of the Parkway station.  It is going across -- across the highway and about a kilometre north of the existing station.

MR. SMITH:  And how does the LCU protection protect that 1.1 pJs of volume?

MR. REDFORD:  How that protects the unit is there is a separate feed that runs up into the LCU compression.  The LCU compression, if Parkway B or A kicked out, would flip the switch.  You would start up that unit, and it would come into line.

And it would be connected into the existing Parkway station so that those units could run in parallel.  And the distinction is that if they ran in series, that, for instance, if the Parkway compressor, LCU compressor, was two miles up the road, if they ran in series you would effectively have to duplicate the Parkway station to get that capacity through.

You would lose the ability to move 2.54 pJs through the station, because the A plant and B plant can't handle that alone.

So you would effectively have more LCU compression required if you did not locate that compressor so that it could be run in parallel.

MR. SMITH:  And just so I am clear, what sort of failures could happen to the compressors in A and B that you are protecting against?

MR. WOOD:  There can be a number of failures.  It is hard to give just a few.  I mean, it's a moving component that is high-pressure and high-temperature.  There could be foreign object damage to the engine.  There could be oil leaks.  There could be controls failures.  There are multiple failures that could cause a loss of a compressor unit.

MR. SMITH:  Now, Mr. Cameron put to you -- I'm not sure if this was his word or mine, but effectively a catastrophic failure of the system.

Is that what is being insured against in -- with the LCU protection?

MR. WOOD:  The discussion that we had yesterday was around disruption to Parkway Consumers and Lisgar, which is on the suction side.  It does not go through compression.

The question asked was what kind of impact could cause both of those sites to lose -- to not be able to supply.  And that was where we discussed a failure of the pipeline.

The LCU is a compressor, covers for a compressor, which is a more common event.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.

MR. REDFORD:  I would add that by having the separation between the existing Parkway station and the Parkway West station, if there was a catastrophic failure at Parkway, that the Parkway West station could provide some service.

It's not intended to -- it's not intended to replace full loss of Parkway, but because it is separated, if the valve can be shut off on the Trafalgar -- which would amount to the gray dot -- then it would be able to provide service, which otherwise wouldn't happen.

MR. SMITH:  A final question.  I just can't recall -- but you were asked some questions.  We don't need to turn it up, but it was slide 9 of attachment 13 to 1-7-8, I believe.

You were asked a question about distance, roughing out the toll from Maple, and I would just ask whether or not Maple is a receipt or -- is a receipt or delivery point on TCPL's system?

MR. REDFORD:  I don't believe it is today.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.

MS. HARE:  Thank you very much, panel.

MR. CAMERON:  Excuse me, Madam Chair.  Just before the panel is disempanelled, Mr. Smith and I had a conversation about Exhibit K8.3, about a clarification that could be made to it.

And I thought we should do that before the panel departed, just in case they have any comment on it, though I understand they agree with it.

If you take your Exhibit K8.3 and turn to the second page, there's a table -- sorry, two tables, one on top of the other.

And on each of them, in the second cluster of wording -- for example, on the first table under "2011/2012 contracts" there is a line "capacity to Parkway" and then there is the same line in the second table down the page under 2013/2014 that says "capacity to Parkway."

Mr. Smith and I have agreed that -- and TransCanada can take responsibility for this, because this is Union's remake of our numbers, and it was TransCanada that used the word "capacity" that Mr. Smith and I now both agree people can cross out and put in "contracts to Parkway", just so nobody is misled that this is about Union's physical capability to Parkway.  That's it, just for clarity.

I am not sure people will ever have other reference to this document, but, if they do, it will be clear if they understand that in both cases that word "capacity" should be "contracts".

MS. HARE:  So it should read "Union contracts to TCPL"?

MR. CAMERON:  Just "contracts to Parkway".

MS. HARE:  All right.

MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, you will see the first -- it says "Union capacity to TCPL, 2.54".  That is right.  That is the capacity.

Then where it says 2013/2014 capacity to Parkway, that should just say contracts to Parkway TCPL.

MS. HARE:  Well, actually, now that you brought this to my attention, I meant to raise this before.

There are two pages to this K8.3.  The second page has nothing to do with the first page, which is corrections.  And what we were thinking is that the second page should actually be given a separate exhibit number.

MR. SMITH:  I agree.

MS. HARE:  So what I think would be helpful is to give it an exhibit number and let's correct it.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  We will be happy to do that.

MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.  So that would be...

MR. MILLAR:  That will be exhibit -- if we're refiling a corrected version, when that comes in that will be K9.1.

EXHIBIT NO. K9.1:  TABLE SHOWING UNION CAPABILITY AT PARKWAY

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. CAMERON:  Thank you for allowing me that interruption, Madam Chair.

MS. HARE:  Thank you, witnesses.  You are now excused.

We will take our break now while, Mr. Cameron, you get your next panel ready.  So we will come -- oh, it looks like Mr. Ripley wants to say something?

MR. SMITH:  No, no.

[Laughter]

MR. SMITH:  I just wanted to raise something with the Board.  We had -- on our cost allocation panel we were going to have Jim Laforet attend to speak to a very narrow issue, which was distributor consolidated billing.

Because I want to avoid a second Cheryl Newbury situation, we have canvassed our friends and they don't have any questions in relation to distributor consolidated billing.  Perhaps the Board could consider whether the Board has questions, because if not, then Mr. Laforet wouldn't need to stay, or, if the Board does have questions, we could just have it dealt with at the beginning.  But none of my friends do, and I don't think it makes sense to have him here for the balance of the week, if no one has questions for him.

MS. HARE:  He is here now?

MR. SMITH:  He is here now.  So if you had questions, we could address it.  That is perfectly fine.

MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  We will take our break now at return at 3:10.  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 2:50 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:20 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.  Are there preliminary matters?


MR. SMITH:  No, thank you.


MS. HARE:  No?


Mr. Cameron, would you introduce your panel, please?


MR. CAMERON:  I believe Mr. Millar wanted to address a preliminary matter.

Preliminary Matters:


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Madam Chair.  Just a housekeeping matter before we begin in relation to this panel.


There were certain pieces of evidence filed on the record by TCPL, that -- similar to our friends, Dr. Booth and the intervenors there -- didn't get assigned an exhibit number from the Board Secretary's office when they came in.  They have all been filed properly.  There is no issue about that, but for the purposes of having a proper number assigned to them I am proposing we enter them as exhibits.


It would just take a moment if I do that now, to assign numbers to them.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Please proceed.


MR. MILLAR:  The first one is one that, actually, you don't have yet, which we will hand up.


These are the CVs from the witnesses that are appearing before you today. That will be K9.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K9.2: WITNESS PANEL CVS.

MR. MILLAR:  Then what I would propose is TCPL's written evidence, which was filed May 16th, will be K9.3.

EXHIBIT NO. K9.3:  TCPL WRITTEN EVIDENCE.

MR. MILLAR:  After that, there were two sets of interrogatory responses.  The first were interrogatories -- the responses to interrogatories from Union; that was all filed as one package. That will be K9.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K9.4:  UNION GAS RESPONSES TO INTERROGATORIES.

MR. MILLAR:  Then there was a separate package -- I think it might have actually been filed the same day, but these were the IR responses from everyone else.  So that will be K9.5.
EXHIBIT NO. K9.5:  INTERROGATORY RESPONSES FROM VARIOUS PARTIES.

MR. MILLAR:  Then finally, shortly thereafter, there were certain corrections to the interrogatories filed, and that will be K9.5 (sic).

EXHIBIT NO. K9.6:  CORRECTIONS TO INTERROGATORY RESPONSES.

MR. MILLAR:  With the exception of the CVs, I believe you have all of those documents, probably, in front of you, but I think they're now marked for the record.


Mr. Cameron, have I missed anything?


MR. CAMERON:  No.  I think it covers it.


MS. HARE:  Mr. Millar, you gave the interrogatory corrections the same number as the IRs from all parties.  Did you mean that to be --


MR. MILLAR:  No, I didn't.  K9.6.  Thank you.


MR. CAMERON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


With that done, I would ask that the witnesses come forward to be sworn.
TRANSCANADA PIPELINES LIMITED – PANEL 1


Lawrence Jensen, Sworn


Steven Alexander Emond, Sworn


Donald Bell, Sworn


Tim Stringer, Sworn

Examination-In-Chief by MR. CAMERON:

MR. CAMERON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Now, before I introduce the witnesses to the Panel and parties, I just wanted to make a comment that might help people in their -- and the Board in its potential cross-examination of this panel, which is to make the point that TransCanada believes that it fully understands the role of the Board in this proceeding, in reviewing Union's capital budget.


And we thought we made it clear in our submissions on the contested motion that we understood that it was not in this proceeding that the Board would approve or disapprove the Parkway West project, or approve or disapprove some alternative proposed by TransCanada.  We get that.


Our objective, as noted in our evidence and interrogatory responses, was to apprise the Board and parties of options for consideration.  Not approval or disapproval, but consideration that we believe Union should consult with TransCanada and perhaps also Enbridge about these options.


And we're doing this in case the Board wishes to comment on or provide guidance to Union or to other parties with respect to this project in Union's capital budget.


That is why my cross-examination of TransCanada was very brief.  I wasn't trying to say that their proposal was a bad one, or that TransCanada's were good ones.  We just put these forward with a view to encourage consultation among the parties on what is effectively a reliability -- a system reliability issue where we believe parties connecting pipelines should be cooperating.


So that also makes me wonder why Union has allocated so much time for the cross-examination of this party on an issue that they say is irrelevant, or even if they were to concede my point, merely a matter of review.


But I believe we understand why we're here.  I hope that we can provide some assistance to the Board, and with that in mind, I welcome the cross-examination of this panel on the point that is relevant before you today.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Cameron.


Just one point of correction.  You said your cross-examination of TransCanada was very brief; I think you meant Union Gas?


MR. CAMERON:  Sorry, yes, I did.


MS. HARE:  Just to correct that.


MR. CAMERON:  Just wait until you hear my cross-examination of TransCanada.


MS. HARE:  Of this panel?


MR. CAMERON:  Yes.


[Laughter]


MS. HARE:  Okay.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We don't allow that in Ontario.


MS. HARE:  So, Mr. Cameron, do you have examination-in-chief?


MR. CAMERON:  Yes, I do.  Thank you.  Seated closest to you, Panel, is Larry Jensen.


Mr. Jensen, I understand that you are an engineer for the TransCanada main line with the title: engineer, main line planning east, system design and commercial operations, and that this group, main line planning east, is responsible for facilities planning of TransCanada's main line system?


MR. JENSEN:  Yes, that's true.


MR. CAMERON:  And I understand that you were employed by Nova Gas Transmission Limited from 1992 until the merger of Nova and TransCanada, and that throughout your employment, first with Nova, now with TransCanada, you have held various facility planning roles?


MR. JENSEN:  Correct.


MR. CAMERON:  And you graduated from the University of Calgary with a bachelor of science in mechanical engineering in 1982, and a master of science in mechanical engineering in 1988?


MR. JENSEN:  Yes.


MR. CAMERON:  And I understand that you testified before the National Energy Board in 2006 in the proceeding that considered TransCanada's application for approval of short-notice services?


MR. JENSEN:  I did.


MR. CAMERON:  Were you involved in the preparation of TransCanada's prefiled evidence in this proceeding?


MR. JENSEN:  Yes, I was.


MR. CAMERON:  And is that evidence accurate, to the best of your knowledge and belief?


MR. JENSEN:  Yes.


MR. CAMERON:  And were you involved in the preparation of TransCanada's responses to interrogatories in this proceeding?


MR. JENSEN:  I was.


MR. CAMERON:  And are those responses accurate, to the best of your knowledge and belief?


MR. JENSEN:  Yes.


MR. CAMERON:  And do you adopt that evidence and those interrogatory responses as your evidence in this proceeding?


MR. JENSEN:  I do.


MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.


To Mr. Jensen's immediate right is Mr. Steve Emond.


Mr. Emond, I understand that your current position with TransCanada is vice president, system design and commercial operations, Canadian and eastern US pipelines, and that in that position you have responsibility for system design and commercial operations for TransCanada's Canadian pipelines and for the Portland natural gas transmission system in the US; is that correct?


MR. EMOND:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. CAMERON:  I understand that you have been employed with TransCanada - I'm going to give your age away here - since 1979, when you joined the facilities planning group in Toronto, and that other than a decade in the late '80s early '90s when you held positions with TransCanada's gas marketing affiliate, you have worked in increasingly senior roles at TransCanada related to system design and commercial operations; is that's correct?


MR. EMOND:  That's correct.


MR. CAMERON:  And you graduated from the University of Waterloo in 1979 with a bachelor of science in system design and engineering?


MR. EMOND:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. CAMERON:  And I understand that you were a witness before this Board in the proceeding related to the natural gas electricity interface review, and that you have appeared in a number of National Energy Board hearings related to the facilities and tolls on the TransCanada system?


MR. EMOND:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. CAMERON:  And you are currently a witness in the TransCanada hearing before the National Energy Board related to the restructuring of the TransCanada, Nova and Foothills pipelines systems?


MR. EMOND:  Yes, I am.


MR. CAMERON:  Were you involved in the preparation of TransCanada's prefiled evidence in this proceeding?

MR. EMOND:  Yes, I was.

MR. CAMERON:  And is that evidence accurate, to the best of your knowledge and belief?

MR. EMOND:  Yes, it is.

MR. CAMERON:  Were you involved in the preparation of TransCanada's responses to interrogatories in this proceeding?

MR. EMOND:  Yes, I was.

MR. CAMERON:  And are those responses accurate, to the best of your knowledge and belief?

MR. EMOND:  Yes, they are.

MR. CAMERON:  Do you adopt that evidence and those interrogatory responses as your evidence in this proceeding?

MR. EMOND:  Yes, I do.

MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.  To Mr. Emond's immediate right, Mr. Don Bell.  Mr. Bell, I understand that your current position with TransCanada is director, commercial east, and in that role you are responsible for marketing Mainline services for the management of the eastern customer accounts and management of TransCanada's commercial office in Toronto?

MR. BELL:  Yes, I am.

MR. CAMERON:  I understand that you have been employed by TransCanada since 1980 and that, other than six years when you worked with an Argentinian affiliate of TransCanada, you have held a number of technical and commercial positions of increasing responsibility with a focus on commercial matters at TransCanada?

MR. BELL:  Yes, I have.

MR. CAMERON:  And you graduated in 1979 with honours in biological sciences from the Northern Alberta Institute of Technology?

MR. BELL:  Yes, I did.

MR. CAMERON:  And I understand you have testified before the National Energy Board in TransCanada's current application related to the restructuring of the TransCanada, Nova and Foothills systems?

MR. BELL:  Yes, I have.

MR. CAMERON:  Were you involved in the preparation of TransCanada's prefiled evidence in this proceeding?

MR. BELL:  Yes, I was.

MR. CAMERON:  Is that evidence accurate, to the best of your knowledge and belief?

MR. BELL:  Yes, it is.

MR. CAMERON:  Were you involved in the preparation of TransCanada's responses to interrogatories filed as exhibits -- that were just filed in this proceeding?

MR. BELL:  Yes, I was.

MR. CAMERON:  And are those responses accurate, to the best of your knowledge and belief?

MR. BELL:  Yes, they are.

MR. CAMERON:  Do you adopt that evidence and those interrogatory responses as your evidence in this proceeding?

MR. BELL:  Yes, I do.

MR. CAMERON:  And, finally, closest to me, Mr. Tim Stringer.  Mr. Stringer, I understand that you are currently the manager, commercial east, with TransCanada with responsibility for sales and marketing activities as they pertain to markets in eastern Canada and the northeastern United States?

MR. STRINGER:  That's correct.

MR. CAMERON:  You have been employed with TransCanada since 1991, when you joined the information systems group, and that you have held roles of increasing responsibility since then, with your current focus being on the eastern Canadian and US northeast markets?

MR. STRINGER:  That's correct.

MR. CAMERON:  You graduated from the University of Calgary in 1991 with a bachelor of commerce degree?

MR. STRINGER:  Yes, I did.

MR. CAMERON:  I understand that you have appeared as a witness on behalf of TransCanada in this Board's Natural Gas Electricity Interface Review and in another proceeding related to Enbridge's 2009 rates, and before the National Energy Board in 2006 in the proceeding concerning short notice services; is that right?

MR. STRINGER:  Yes.

MR. CAMERON:  Were you involved in the preparation of TransCanada's prefiled evidence?

MR. STRINGER:  Yes, I was.

MR. CAMERON:  And is that evidence accurate, to the best of your knowledge and belief?

MR. STRINGER:  Yes.

MR. CAMERON:  And were you involved in the preparation of TransCanada's responses to interrogatories?

MR. STRINGER:  Yes, I was.

MR. CAMERON:  And are those responses accurate, to the best of your knowledge and belief?

MR. STRINGER:  Yes.

MR. CAMERON:  Do you adopt that evidence and those interrogatory responses as your evidence in this proceeding?

MR. STRINGER:  Yes, I do.

MR. CAMERON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  With that evidence done, the witnesses are available for cross-examination.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Do I understand correctly that the only party that will be cross-examining is Union Gas?

MR. SMITH:  I don't believe that is correct.

MR. CASS:  I have some questions, Madam Chair.

MS. HARE:  And Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  And Mr. Thompson?

MR. THOMPSON:  I have some.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  And is Union Gas going first?

MR. SMITH:  I believe we are going last.

MS. HARE:  Last.  All right.  Before you started, I would just want to make a comment about the introductory comments that you made, Mr. Cameron.

The Board does agree with you that there will be no specific findings arising out of this issue, given that we have heard that nothing will close to rate base in 2013.

However, we do think it is important to understand the context of what's happening in the marketplace and what will be planned in the next few years and how it may affect ratepayers.  But we do agree with your comments about no specific findings.

So, all right, I have Mr. Quinn, Mr. Thompson, Mr. Macintosh.  Mr. Gruenbauer, no.  Mr. Wolnik, no.  Mr. Aiken, no.  Mr. Buonaguro.

Okay, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Oh, sorry.  Mr. Cass, I think --


MR. CASS:  I don't care where I come in, Madam Chair.  You just didn't mention me there at the end.

[Laughter]

MS. HARE:  I am so sorry.  I would never ignore you.

[Laughter]

MS. HARE:  But do you have a preference as to where you go?

MR. CASS:  No.

MS. HARE:  Okay.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  Then I will proceed.  And heeding the introductions by the Panel, I want to stay at a fairly high level.

But one of the things I thought would be helpful to be able to understand a few things would be an actual map.

I went back on the record and did not find a map of the TransCanada system and the delivery areas, so I provided it last Friday, but I had not referred to it yet.  But as of today, I provided colour copies that were there for Mr. Millar and now Ms. Sebalj, so that we would have the colour copies available.

Mr. Organ has them prepared to be brought up electronically, so hopefully that will be helpful.

MS. SEBALJ:  So we will first mark it as Exhibit 9.7, and I will provide them to the Panel.
EXHIBIT NO. K9.7:  MAP OF TRANSCANADA SYSTEM AND THE DELIVERY AREAS.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Now, I am sure that TransCanada has been following this proceeding with interest, and there was a fair amount of discussion the other day with the gas supply panel and the ex-franchise panel.  We referred to delivery zones and delivery areas, and that is where I was just hoping, by using this map, to quickly create some clarity in terms of delivery.

So this map was pulled from the TransCanada website and is showing the delivery areas.  And I will ask the panel, first, to confirm.  On the far left-hand side, just at the Alberta-Saskatchewan border, the start of the pipeline, it is in small print there, but you would recognize that as Empress?

MR. EMOND:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And so of course the gas moves across predominantly in -- I am going to refer to the Mainline sections -- moves across Saskatchewan, Manitoba and into Ontario, into the start of Union's franchise area through the western zone, northern zone, and then into southwestern Ontario.

I guess, Mr. Emond, since you are probably best capable to describe this, I want to focus on the area from North Bay and south and east from North Bay.

So if Mr. Organ could actually provide a zoom to that, and even a little bit further towards -- that should be helpful at this point.

Mr. Emond, the eastern zone, let me start with that specifically.  East of North Bay is called the eastern zone, but you have delivery areas inside of the eastern zone; is that correct?

MR. EMOND:  Yes.  The eastern zone is actually a tolling area.  So that would be everything south and east of North Bay junction on the map, and also would be east of Parkway, as well.

So all of that area would be -- for long-haul service, have the same toll.  So it would be eastern zone deliveries.

Within the eastern zone, though, we break it down into smaller delivery areas by LDC.  And, within that, just for example, with Enbridge we would have Enbridge CDA, which is the Toronto area and around the GTA, not just the GTA, but up towards Barrie east towards Bowmanville.  The Niagara Peninsula, as well, would be part of the Enbridge CDA.

Then we would have the Enbridge EDA, which would be the Ottawa area.

For Union we would have the Union CDA, which is around sort of the Hamilton/Burlington area, as well as Union NCDA would be Barrie north up to North Bay.  And then Union EDA would be fairly small segments along the northern shore of Lake Ontario towards Cornwall area, up that route, and also I believe on the North Bay shortcut, which is the North Bay junction down to Iroquois that Union EDA is.

The final one would be GMI -- Gaz Métro EDA would be sort of Montreal, Quebec City, that whole territory there.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Mr. Emond.  That was a very comprehensive explanation, so I can move probably directly to my first question, then.

There was some discussion with the Union Gas supply panel about meeting winter needs through the use of ST FT.  One of the concerns expressed by the panel was the availability of ST FT.

So for the winter period, could you tell us the last time TCPL did not have ST FT available for delivery to North Bay and east, basically to the eastern delivery zone?

MR. EMOND:  Just a minute, please.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. EMOND:  I probably don't have the exact date, but the Beardmore line break on TransCanada, I believe that would have been February of 2010 -- '11?  February 2011.  That's correct.

That probably would have been the last time that we would have restricted what we would call long-haul ST FT, but I would point out even during that line break we would have had some ST FT pre-sold.

For example, Enbridge has contracted for substantial quantities of ST FT for winter seasons.  So during the Beardmore line break, we were able to meet all of our firm obligations at that time; that would be both our long-term FT contracts, as well as whatever ST FT was pre-sold prior to that line break.

Now, during the line break, we obviously didn't sell any more service at that time.

MR. QUINN:  Right.  So summarizing that, even though Beardmore, which is probably your biggest catastrophic failure since possibly the Princess compressor, do you remember what year that was?

MR. EMOND:  I'm going to guess 1982, on the Nova NGTL system.

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  So the Beardmore line break -- I can put these words to you, looking for concurrence -- but the Beardmore catastrophic failure was one of the most significant incidents in the last two or three decades, and you were able to maintain firm service to the eastern zone, and including Union's franchise area?

MR. EMOND:  Yeah, I would say it was a serious disruption, and maybe I should explain that a little bit.

We have three lines through the NOL at the Beardmore area.  The line break was on the second line, line 2 of NOL.

Because of a valve issue, we also had to isolate line 3, as well.  So during that period, we were relying on just a single line through the NOL.  And in fact, that was the smallest of the three lines.

And with that, we were able to maintain firm service.  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Now, just to be more precise in my question, I guess what I was asking is:  When was the last time that TCPL did not have an open season for ST FT for North Bay and east for an entire winter period?

Would you know the answer to that question?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. EMOND:  I just canvassed the panel, and I don't think any of us can recollect a time that we weren't posting at least some short-term firm for the winter season.  We typically post it in the summer, before the season, and -- but I don't think we've got sort of the records in front of us to verify that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I don't know that we need the exact date, but for the purposes of our understanding, you're saying it's been decades since ST FT was not tendered as an open season for the entire winter period, for the eastern zone as an example?

MR. EMOND:  Yeah.  I think that's safe to say.

Now, I should qualify that, just to be careful.

There are portions of the eastern zone, it telescopes, and as you get farther east, there is less capacity on a peak winter day.

So as you get down towards Montreal, it would be, obviously, tighter, but certainly we've seen a lot of non-renewal of long-haul over the last decade, and in particular over the last three to four years.

And going forward, we would expect even more non-renewals of long-haul.  And we've recently come out with a new long-term forecast that just, over the last month, dropped our throughput by close to a Bcf, again, from the west.

So what that has created, particularly in the last three years -- and we see it increasing -- is an awful lot of excess capacity in our system through the NOL to North Bay.

MR. QUINN:  Great.  Thank you.

I am going to shift a little bit more back towards the content we have been discussing today, earlier with the Union witness panel, and that is the covering the need for the -- I am going to be specific.  The discharge side of the Parkway compressors, the loss of critical unit is to supplement flows that would be on the discharge side of the Parkway compressors.

Would it be fair to say that most of the capacity that leaves Parkway is destined for Maple and points east?

MR. EMOND:  Yes, most of the gas that TransCanada receives at the discharge side of Parkway would go to Maple and points east of there.

So TransCanada does have a few meter stations into the GTA, east of Parkway, but many of the contracts on our system from Parkway go to Iroquois or Gaz Métro, points east, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So in summary, Union is -- with a loss of critical unit, Union is ensuring that it could meet its commitments to TransCanada, and most of those are at Maple?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. EMOND:  I'm sorry, I didn't hear the very last part of your question.

MR. QUINN:  That Union is trying to meet its commitments to TransCanada, and most of those commitments are at Maple?  Sorry, Maple and beyond, to be specific to the answer you gave before.

MR. EMOND:  Yes.  As I mentioned, the gas that TransCanada is receiving at Parkway, I'm quite certain it is more 50 percent of that would go to Maple and beyond.  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So we've had an exchange earlier today about the different options that TransCanada put forward in your evidence.  Union responded and there's been some back and forth.  But this is not going to be decided in this proceeding, as we discussed.

But to the extent that TCPL has capacity -- in other words, has not moved a compressor, as it laid out in some of its options, 2 and 3 -- but if TCPL were to have the capacity, would TCPL be willing to provide Union with a backstop service, like a winter peaking service, to deliver gas in Maple?

So in other words, in your view, from a public interest perspective, would you be willing to negotiate some form of backstop or call right for Union for loss of critical unit, wherein TCPL ensures the deliveries get to Maple, not necessarily Parkway?

MR. EMOND:  As mentioned, I believe, in IR responses, TransCanada set out four potential options for Union to consider, but we also discussed the potential to sit down and negotiate other terms and conditions, or modified terms and conditions that would better meet Union's requirements.

And things that we talked about would be around notice.  Obviously, if there's some sort of facility upset, you may not have eight or 10 hours to wait, and if they needed something shorter-term, that is certainly something we would like to set down and talk about.

Yes, so we are more than prepared to have those discussions and try and work to tailor a solution that meets their needs.

And I think from our perspective, just standing back a bit, we have got a lot of capacity available on most, if not all days, and I think, rather than putting new facilities in the ground, I think it is in the best interests of everyone to see if there isn't some opportunity to make use of existing infrastructure that is being paid for in large part by Ontario consumers today.

MR. QUINN:  And we appreciate that.

And just to make sure my question is properly distinguished, I was looking for -- by asking the question that way -- you are providing gas at Maple as opposed to Parkway, because Maple is where the gas is needed -- so in asking the question, would you be willing to come up with some kind of negotiated solution with Union wherein you are providing yourself backstopping at Maple, to allow Union to have the comfort that the loss of critical unit is not necessary?

MR. EMOND:  Physically -- maybe I can come at it this way.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. EMOND:  If that's a service they want, we are certainly willing to look at that, but the options that we brought forward, two of the options would involve moving additional gas during an outage period through the NOL, and that gas physically would come down from North Bay to Maple, physically would show up there, and from Maple that gas could go -- would go both directions.

So it could back feed, as we typically historically have done from Maple to Parkway, to feed the meters along that segment, as well as moving east to meet our customer requirements at Iroquois and Gaz Métro, et cetera.

MR. QUINN:  Great.  Thank you.

I would like you to turn up -- and this is in Union's reply, sub-motion, the document that we have been reviewing in detail this morning.  There was an attachment 13, and page 9 of that attachment, that showed the potential TCPL rate impact using current TCPL tolling methodology.

Now, I see you have it on your screens, so it is wonderful technology.

The Panel members were asking some questions about the impact of the slide.  Mr. Redford was trying to be helpful, but he did distinguish that the sales group had come up with this and -- but I was thinking that, given that we have some of the experts here in the room, maybe we could ask you your interpretation of this.

So absent asking Union's regulatory area to come up with a different graph, I was -- it caused me some concern to notice how the graph started notionally at the same point, while the left-hand side shows, at zero distance, there is some impact.

I am just trying to get TCPL's response on this.  Would it be simplistic enough to say that to the extent there is de-contracting on the TCPL Mainline system from Empress to Ontario, no matter what level -- no matter what location you are in Ontario, there is going to be an impact to the cost of service under the current tolling methodology?

MR. EMOND:  Yes, that's correct.  And I think what the graph is showing is that the way TransCanada tolls work is volume distance-based.  So the farther the distance, the greater the impact.  But, yeah, it's sort of standard tolling mechanism that your costs are the same.  If you are dividing by lower billing determinants, then your tolls are going to go up.

So if we lose long-haul deliveries, yes, the tolls will definitely go up.

MR. QUINN:  So the point of clarification I guess I was trying to make is there was a question about the northern customers and the impact on the northern customers.  I know it is simplistic to say the distance from Maple, but because the northern customers are upstream of Maple, the impact on them would be notionally smaller?

MR. EMOND:  It would depend how those customers are being served.  To some extent, they could still be served from Empress from the west, or they could be served from Parkway, and we would calculate the distance of haul.  And in either case, that would be a fairly significant distance to many of the locations in northern Ontario, and obviously their tolls would be going up proportionately.

MR. QUINN:  But would it be proportional to distance from Maple?

MR. EMOND:  I'm not sure if I'm answering the question, but I will try it this way.  All of our tolls would go up, and all of our tolls are distance-based.

It would depend on the receipt point of the gas transported to that market.  If there was gas received at Parkway, you would measure the distance from Parkway to Sudbury, Thunder Bay, et cetera, and that would be the distance, and then the toll from there.

MR. QUINN:  Maybe the clarifying point that I can say, using a receipt point of Empress -- so for long-haul tolling, which I understood this graph to represent, is the impact on rates of de-contracting the long haul.

With that as a reference point, the cost to northern customers would not necessarily be dependent on their distance from Maple; would that be correct?

MR. EMOND:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  Okay.  This is more of just a general, and I think I will probably close with this.

We heard yesterday -- and we're concerned about some of the lack of consultation between Union and TCPL.  As ratepayers, we would desire for transporters and utilities to work together like the good old days when I worked for Union.

[Laughter]

MR. QUINN:  We also heard --


MR. SMITH:  I am sure you were leading the charge in consultation.

MR. QUINN:  We also heard yesterday of collaboration between Union and Enbridge, and even a potential compensation for shippers who move their business from TCPL to the Union-Enbridge project.

So I have two questions in this area.  First off, has TransCanada been asked by Enbridge to provide a cost from TCPL to provide a feed to Albion directly from Maple?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BELL:  TransCanada has been in discussions with customers, a number of customers, the conversations about providing supply into Toronto, utilizing alternate paths.  And there's a number of customers that have requested services like that and have -- TransCanada has been meeting with.

Those discussions, our discussions with our customers are confidential, and so I can't specifically say who the discussions were with, but we have had discussions with a number of parties about deliveries of gas into the Toronto area on a number of different various paths.

I guess one thing I would say is there was no consultation with TransCanada regarding this open season, the Albion path. There is no conversation with TransCanada, although we heard rumours on the street from customers, weeks and months before Union came out with the open season, that these conversations were taking place.

Regarding the Parkway West and the presentation that was presented to TransCanada that was put up today, we had that presentation.  Union did meet with us regarding the Parkway West project.

When they met with us, This is what we're doing.  We're building Parkway West.  And ten days after the presentation was delivered, they filed it with the Ontario Energy Board in this proceeding.

So there's really been no dialogue or discussion regarding a collaborative process or other ways to provide service either to Enbridge or to Union as part of the open season and the project that we talked about over the last couple of days.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And I think you would understand as ratepayers we're concerned about the ultimate impact of the landed cost of gas here in Ontario, and so we would be encouraging a greater level of dialogue.

But to finish with this, in TransCanada's view, given what we've heard today about -- this proceeding clearly is not about deciding on Parkway West, or not.  What relief would your company request of this Board, not necessarily in this proceeding, but of the Ontario Energy Board to ensure that publicly interested alternatives are considered and costed prior to the construction of the Parkway West project or the GTA reinforcement?

MR. BELL:  I think Mr. Cameron summarized it fairly well at the beginning of this panel, but I think what TransCanada is putting forth -- TransCanada gets it, you know, that the market may require alternate supply, that they might require different security of supply.

But what we wanted to make the Board aware of was that we have done a review of what's being proposed.  We have a lot of assets that are under-utilized, not utilized.  And those assets, in part, are being paid by the Ontario consumers.

So we think that the logical way of making sure the right infrastructure gets installed is to have the parties get together in a collaborative way and discuss the alternatives.

We put forth four alternatives.  If we all got together, maybe we could come up with another two or three alternatives, or maybe there would be a combination of these alternatives.  If one doesn't work for the entire loss of critical unit service, maybe there's something else that could be used.

I mean, we never got into the details even here of discussing -- we put out Parkway, building a compression at Parkway.  We never talked about how that would be tolled or how we would arrange for the service.

It was intended that we get together and evaluate that and come up with something that made sense.  We can understand some of the arguments that Union made, that, you know, holding ST FT for 365 -- or for the winter, to act as a loss of critical unit backstopping service, would be expensive.  But we weren't proposing that.

We were proposing let's get together and talk about it.

So I guess in terms of what we would like to see, is we would like to see direction from the Board, in terms of collaboration, their views on whether or not there should be collaboration between the utilities, and how that collaboration should take place.

And the parties would have an opportunity to get together and discuss and come back to the Board with some recommendations.

So that is what we would like to see, in terms of --


I mean, during -- TransCanada took part in the market review.  At that time, we highlighted that we get the fact that, you know, markets and market areas can look for alternate supply and alternate paths into the market.  That makes sense.  That makes perfect sense.

But along with that comes a cost.  So what is really required is the parties to get together and look at what makes sense, in terms of balance, in terms of supply reliability, supply options and cost, cost to infrastructure is being paid by Ontario consumers.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. BELL:  In that presentation, I think we presented -- we haven't really looked at what was proposed here, but at that time we took a look at the loss of 500 -- 500,000 teraJoules a day decrease in long-haul to short-haul, and the impact on revenue requirements.  And that was in the order of $80 million a year.

That would drive up tolls somewhere in the order of 30 cents from the WCSB to Toronto, at the time we looked at it.

Since then, we've heard Mr. Emond say that we have loss a Bcf a day of throughput.  So if we took a look and redid those numbers today, we're probably looking at 100 million in terms of impact of moving away from long-haul to short-haul, and that won't -- will not only affect long-haul tolls and tolls to northern Ontario, it will also have an impact on the short-haul tolls.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you for those answers.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Thompson?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Witness panel, we have heard a lot about this bottleneck between Maple and -- sorry, Parkway and Maple.  We understand that the NEB recently granted an application made by TCPL to expand that capacity.

Have I got that straight?

MR. EMOND:  Yes.  The NEB approved two short loop sections on our pipeline between Parkway and Maple.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And Union witnesses, as I understand them, say that what's been approved is -- it falls short of what the market requires.

Does TransCanada agree with that?

MR. EMOND:  No, we don't.  TransCanada, and I believe most pipelines, only build facilities on the basis of long-term firm customer contracts.

To date, my understanding is neither Union, through their open season, nor, I can say, TransCanada through our own open seasons, neither of us have sufficient contractual underpinnings to expand that path beyond what TransCanada has today.

So we have the two loop sections, and then we have additional compression going in at Maple in 2013 to meet other customer contracts.

But we do not have sufficient underpinning to do the full Parkway-to-Maple loop.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  When you say "the full Parkway-to-Maple loop" what additional capacity amount are you referencing?  Is it the same number that Union references?  Big picture?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. THOMPSON:  I forgot what the capacity number was, but Mr. Redford mentioned it today, I believe.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. JENSEN:  The expansion of our 2012 facilities will add about 300 tJs per day.

I don't have in front of me what the volume is with our 2013 expansion facilities.

MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, so is there another tranche of expansion coming on the Parkway-to-Maple line of TransCanada?

MR. EMOND:  Mr. Jensen mentioned the 2012, and that's about 300, I believe, he mentioned.

The 2013, we have signed precedent agreements for -- don't hold me to the number, it is certainly less than the 300.  I would hazard a guess in the 150 range.

Beyond that, at this point, I don't believe we have any further -- well, I will let the marketing group answer that one.

MR. BELL:  Yes.  We just -- we conducted another open season, and we had in that open season interest for about another 500,000 gigajoules a day that was interest.

We never -- we haven't got firm -- we haven't got precedent agreements signed for all those, and until such time as we have had a chance to go through the precedent agreements, we are really not sure how much of that will turn into actual binding requests.

MR. THOMPSON:  So do I understand, though, that you are holding open seasons on a regular basis with respect to this Parkway-to-Maple route?

MR. BELL:  That's correct.  I mean, when we've received feedback or interest from the market, we respond to that by having an open season.

In fact, Union and TransCanada and National Fuel and Empire State, prior to the latest open season that Union held, had a collaborative process where we worked together, we went out and visited the suppliers in Marcellus and held an open season, had joint marketing packages.

And so we have been actively looking at trying to meet -- serve the market requirements through talking to the suppliers and talking to the market, and expanding when we have firm contracts to underpin those expansions.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  So can I conclude from that that TransCanada supports the elimination of the bottleneck between Parkway and Maple as expeditiously as possible?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. BELL:  I was just checking with my design guy here, and I think the response to that question is yes.

I mean, I would back up and say we don't believe -- we wouldn't use the word "bottleneck."  We don't have a bottleneck.

When we have firm contracts to underpin a capital investment, to expand those facilities, we will expand.  So today we would not say that we have a bottleneck between Parkway and Maple.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, perhaps if I put it this way.  TransCanada supports the expansion of the Parkway-to-Maple capacity as expeditiously as possible, having regard to the market response to your open seasons, I guess.  That is the way I am interpreting what you are saying; is that fair?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. EMOND:  Just one build on that.  Certainly constructing facilities from Parkway to Maple is one way to meet that load.  In the past, TransCanada has opportunity to use existing capacity that's in the ground on Great Lakes and through our NOL to meet demand out of the greater Dawn area, to move that gas east.

So in the latest open season that Mr. Bell was mentioning, if we get ultimately some more -- some additional contracts, then, as we always do, we sit down and look at what is the lowest-cost way of moving that gas from the receipt point to the delivery point, and that may be construction of facilities from Parkway to Maple, but it may involve some backhaul.  It may involve a combination of the two.

So that's the only clarification I would add.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you for that.

Now, my last area is with respect to what seems to me to be an invitation from TransCanada to Union and perhaps to EGD, through the Board, to collaborate to solve their problems.  Just stopping there, is that a fair characterization of what you are suggesting?

MR. BELL:  Yes, that's right.  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And their problems, Enbridge has its GTA feed problems and Union has its -- what it calls the bottleneck problem and the LCU problem.  And the solution they have come up with at the moment, as I understand it, is this Enbridge line from Parkway to Albion, which strikes me as a partial loop of the Parkway to Maple -- your Parkway to Maple line.

And my question is:  Can TransCanada add anything to the solution that Enbridge and Union have come up with to this point - and I am thinking of would TransCanada build from Albion to Maple - or is the TransCanada -- are the TransCanada options limited to, as you say, your facilities at Parkway to Maple and other excess capacity that can work in combination to solve the problems?

In other words, are we into an either/or situation, or is there a blend that has a realistic prospect of success?  As an old family law lawyer, I am wondering whether this mediation is going to work with you three guys.

[Laughter]

MR. SMITH:  I would like to know where...

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Who is the other woman?

[Laughter]

MR. EMOND:  I will offer a few comments, and Mr. Bell may jump in, as well.

I think from an engineering, technical perspective, there are a variety of options.  I mentioned sort of the build versus backhaul option.

In terms of the Parkway corridor itself, TransCanada has, for some time, talked to its task force about what the next steps may be in that corridor in terms of looping the entire Parkway to Maple, so completing the loop there.  So that may be one option that deals with it.

We have looked at various -- I shouldn't "various" -- a couple of options in terms of building down from our line to Albion, for example.  So there could be a direct one.

We know there's a line from our line down through Goreway, which is the recent power plant, that is not that far from Albion as an option.

We have also, you know, at a preliminary stage, looked at construction from Albion to Maple.

So there are a variety of things that TransCanada, you know, as a prudent pipeline operator, should be looking at in this area, and we're prepared to sit down and talk with the other parties about what makes sense, what's the cheapest alternative.

MR. THOMPSON:  Are the in-service dates for your options more or less contiguous with the needs of these folks, as you understand them, "these folks" being Union and Enbridge?

MR. EMOND:  I would think just generally they would be.  In terms of ordering compression, for example, you've got a certain lead time on that.

If TransCanada were to transfer a compressor, that might be less time, but you've got regulatory timing issues, as well, that -- as we all know, that takes a while to go through.

So I think we're probably in the same ballpark, but there may be some advantages around moving a compressor versus ordering new.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Ms. Taylor has a question.
Questions by the Board:

MS. TAYLOR:  I'm not sure who I should direct this to, so I will leave it up to you to decide.

I'm not sure Mr. Thompson suggested this or implied it, but should the Board be distinguishing between firm physical capacity to deliver via direct pipeline route, or some combination of exchanges or utilization of existing facilities?

I ask the question, because this panel has raised it.  There is significant excess capacity within Ontario on your system.  Mr. Isherwood for Union earlier in the proceeding identified certain turnbacks, and Mr. Redford, I believe, indicated as well that on the Dawn system there was significant capacity.

So it strikes me every time that we have a flow change in the pattern of gas in North America, the first thing that we want to do is run out and construct a facility, the shortest from point A to point B, but that leaves a bunch of under-utilized assets elsewhere that somebody has to pay for, and it is usually the customer.

So is it your view that we should not necessarily, then, favour a physical solution and that we should give equal weight to other solutions that make better use, if not slightly longer, or should we always favour the new construction over depreciated routes, whether it is Union or a combination of anybody else's facilities?

MR. EMOND:  I would say, generally speaking, it should be lowest cost.  If it makes more sense from a cost perspective to go backhaul on Great Lakes and move gas, additional gas, through what is capacity available on our northern Ontario line, and if that on a net basis is lowest cost, I would think that would make sense.

On the other hand, if it is lower cost to build a facility, you know, I think that is appropriate, as well.

So I think it really comes down to a look at the long-term cost benefits.  That's what TransCanada has always done.

When we first got significant short-haul requests to move gas from Dawn to markets in the east - and that would have been in the early- to mid-2000 time frame - we were able to meet, I'd guess, about 500 million a day of incremental short-haul demands without building any facilities.

We were able to do it by displacements, and by eventually backhaul on Great Lakes, and I think -- so that was an example of being able to meet customer demands without adding infrastructure and cost to the system.

So I think, from our perspective, lowest cost is probably the most important driver.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  I have a hard stop at 4:30.  So, Mr. Cass, I don't know if there is any point in your starting, unless you think you are only going to be five, ten minutes.

MR. CASS:  I definitely think I should finish before 4:30, Madam Chair.  I would be surprised if I don't.

MS. HARE:  Okay, good.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Cass:


MR. CASS:  Panel, my main questions were -- will be for the panel at large, but before I come to those, I just wanted to follow up, Mr. Bell, on some answers you gave to questions from Mr. Quinn.

You will recall that Mr. Quinn was asking you about consultations with other parties.  You referred to the fact that you had had consultations with customers looking for greater service into Toronto or the GTA, but you were respecting the confidentiality of those discussions; right?

MR. BELL:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  Yes.  And I don't mean to disagree in any way with the respect you are giving to the confidentiality of that.

However, you did then go on to talk about a couple of areas where you said that there had been no consultation or no dialogue.

I just wanted to be clear that when you were talking about those areas where there had been no consultation or no dialogue, nobody should take from that any implication that you have not had consultations with Enbridge Gas Distribution; is that fair?

Again, I know there is a confidentiality concern here, but also I just don't want people to form the conclusion, from your other statement, that you have not had consultations with Enbridge Gas Distribution.  Is that fair?

MR. BELL:  Yes, that's fair.

MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.  I realize that was a little convoluted.

It's been pointed out to me that presentations made to Enbridge have actually been filed in this proceeding.

I'm a newcomer here, so I apologize for not being as familiar with the record as I should be.

Is that fair?

MR. BELL:  Yes, that's true.  When I referred -- I think I was trying to break the conversations that we had into a couple of areas.

And one, there was a question; I think the question was asking whether or not there had been any discussions about looking at Albion or supplying service from Albion.

And my comments about consultation and not being any consultation was directed towards this open season that took place from, basically, Parkway to Maple, the Union open season, and there was no consultation with TransCanada prior to that open season.

That's what I -- that's what I was trying to explain there.

MR. CASS:  Thank you for clarifying that.

To come to my main questions -- and again, I don't know the appropriate person to answer them, so I will just direct them to the panel -- I take it that the panel can agree with me that the reliability of the supply of natural gas to the GTA is a very important matter and consideration for the Board?

MR. EMOND:  Yes.  We would agree with that, yes.

MR. CASS:  I am hoping these are not going to be startling propositions for you, but I have been surprised before.

I take it the panel can also agree with me that in relation to any consideration of that matter - that being the reliability of gas supply to the GTA - Enbridge Gas Distribution is a key party to be involved in that consideration of the issue?  Can you agree with that, as well?

MR. EMOND:  Yes.  Definitely.

MR. CASS:  All right.  And just taking what we just agreed on into a little piece, I take it you would also agree that to the extent there's going to be consideration of options or solutions with respect to reliability of gas supply to the GTA, that that should be considered in the context where Enbridge is fully involved; fair enough?

MR. EMOND:  Certainly, yes.

MR. CASS:  Then just taking that down one step further and being a little more specific, if we were to consider the options and alternatives that TransCanada has brought forward in this case, what we've just talked about would apply to that, as well, that they should be -- were they to be considered in any decisions made about them, it should be in a context where Enbridge Gas Distribution has full involvement in the consideration; is that fair?

MR. EMOND:  Yeah, I think that is fair.  Yes.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  Now, let me emphasize I don't mean to be critical about this at all.  I understand that the case transpired in a certain fashion, and this is not a criticism.

But it is my understanding that at the time TransCanada filed its evidence in this case with respect to its options or alternatives -- whatever the correct term is -- it had not actually discussed them with Enbridge Gas Distribution; am I right in that?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. EMOND:  Yes, I think that is fair, yes.

MR. CASS:  Again, no criticism intended.  In part, this, I think, leads me to the point where your counsel ended at the start of this panel, in any event, which is that given that, in the context of this particular proceeding, there has not been that opportunity for full involvement of Enbridge Gas Distribution, the Board should not be -- at least TransCanada would agree that the Board should not be looking to make concrete decisions on those options and alternatives in this particular case; is that fair?

MR. EMOND:  Yeah, I think that is fair.  Yes.

MR. CASS:  Okay.

MR. EMOND:  Sorry, there is just one clarification --


MR. CASS:  Yes?  Yes?

MR. EMOND:  -- I wanted to add.  Our understanding is that the loss of critical unit protection is being provided not to the direct feed from Union into Enbridge, but to the direct feed into TransCanada.

MR. CASS:  Yes.

MR. EMOND:  At Parkway.  And you know, I think that is why we undertook to -- you know, obviously being an interested party, then, that hadn't been consulted by Union about that ahead of time, we -- other than, as Don Bell mentioned, just shortly prior to the filing.

So that's why we undertook to bring forward some options for consideration.  It wasn't meant to exclude Enbridge, and we understand your role in this.

MR. CASS:  Fair enough.  Thank you.  Then I just have one final question.

It may just be me being unduly cautious, given that we know that TransCanada is not looking for the Board to make decisions on these options and alternatives in this case.  I am not clear on what might come out of this case.  Your counsel used the words "some guidance" from the Board.

Can we agree that whatever the Board might be asked to do in this case in final arguments by parties, that it is fair to continue with the proposition that you and I have agreed upon, which is that the Board should take into account in whatever guidance it gives; that in the context of this case there's not been that full involvement by Enbridge Gas Distribution in the consideration of these options and alternatives?  Is that fair?

MR. EMOND:  Yeah, I think that is fair.  Yes.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  Thank you.

Those are my questions, Madam Chair.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

We will adjourn for the day, then, and resume with you, Mr. Smith, tomorrow.

Now, before the break, you asked if the Panel had questions for Mr. Laforet or whether he could be excused.  We do not have questions for him.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  And I looked.  It is not the same as the Ms. Newbury situation, who was a new witness who we were delighted to meet and to experience the OEB regulatory experience, but Mr. Laforet has been a witness before.

MR. SMITH:  No, no, he is a wily veteran.

MS. HARE:  I looked at it.

[Laughter]


MR. SMITH:  And in the early days of affiliate relations, he had the pleasure of being on the stand for some time.

MS. HARE:  Ms. Taylor is now saying maybe he should appear.

MS. TAYLOR:  If he's a wily veteran, he can answer questions.

[Laughter]


MR. SMITH:  About anything.

MS. HARE:  He will not be required.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Very much appreciated.

MS. HARE:  So we will meet tomorrow at 9:30.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:26 p.m.
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